|
2007 ANNUAL REPORT

T

FINANCIAL



Grainger defined:

Vv

noun the leading distributor of everything you need to maintain a facility

erb to serve your needs easily, fast and problem free

Many people are familiar with the name Grainger, even if they don’t

work with the company or know someone who does. They often say
they've seen the Grainger name on a local branch, on our catalogs or
in connection with one of the good causes we support.

They may say that Grainger is a good company...good in the sense
of well run, a strong performer with dedicated employees and solid
standing in its markets and communities.

Yet, Grainger is not a household name. Ask people on the street
if they know what Grainger does, and the answer is frequently,
“Pm not sure,” or “l really don’t know.”

That’s understandable. We’re a business-to-business distributor,
and we do not manufacture anything. We’re a service business.
We help people maintain and repair buildings, so the rest of us

can be safe, comfortable and productive.

In the shareholder letter, Grainger’s Chairman and CEO talks
about who and what Grainger is... highlighting some key roles
the company plays in helping business, the public sector

and society.

2007 SALES BY CUSTOMER CATEGORY

Agriculture and Mining 4%
Reseller 5%

All Others 8%

Commercial 18%
Retail 8%

| H Manufacturing 18
Light Manufacturing 9% eavy Manutacturing 18%

Contractor 13% Government 17%
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W.W. GRAINGER, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

W.W. Grainger, Inc., distributes a broad offering of maintenance, repair and
operating producls to businesses and institutions throughout North America

and in China. Grainger uses multiple channels to serve its 1.8 million customers.
Founded in 1927, the company is headquartered in Lake Forest, Hlinois.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

{In thousands of dollars, except per share amounts) 2007 2006 9% Change
Income Statement
Net sales $6,418,014  $5,883,654 9.1%
Gross profit 2,603,623 2,354,150 10.6%
As a percent of net sales 40.6% 40.0%
Operating earnings 670,663 578,071 16.0%
As a percent of net sales 10.5% 9.8%
Earnings before income taxes 681,861 603,023 13.1%
As a percent of net sales 10.6% 10.2%
Net earnings $420,120 $383,399 9.6%
As a percent of net sales 6.6% 6.5%
Per Share
Earnings — diluted $4.54 $4.24 16.5%
Cash dividends paid 1.340 1.110 20.7%
Average number of shares outstanding — diluted 85,044,963 90,528,774 (6.1)%
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow
Working capital $974,414 $1,155,763 (16.7%%
Cash flow fram operations 468,875 436,753 7.4%
Additions to property, buildings and equipment 188,867 127,814 47 8%
Financial Ratios and Other Data
Return on average shareholders' equity 19.7% 17.2%
Return on average lotal capitalization 19.2% 17.2%
Return on invested capital (ROIC)* 28.5% 26.4%
Number of branches 610 593
Number of employzes 18,036 17,074

*

See page 7 for definition

SALES
Dollars in billions

2003 2004 2005 2006
4.67 5.05 553 5.88

2007
6.42

EARNINGS PER SHARE - DILUTED

Dollars

2003 2004 2005 2006

2007

246 313 378 424 494
RETURN ON EQUITY

Percent

—

|
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|
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2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

125 147 159 172 197

RETURN ON INVESTED CAPITAL"

Percent

—

2003 2004 2005 2006
20.6 239 255 26.4

2007
28.5




Richard L. Keyser
Chairman and
 Chief Executive Officer

HIGHLIGHTS OF 2007

* Posted record sales of
$6.4 billion, up 9 percent

* Reported record earnings per
share of $4.94, up 17 percent

* Increased operating margin
70 basis points, to 10.5 percent

* Generated pretax return on
invested capital of 28.5 percent

* Repurchased 7.1 million shares

* Raised quarterly dividend
21 percent, to $.35 per share

GOALS FOR 2008
* Increase sales by 7 to 10 percent

* Achieve operating margins of
10.8 to 11.2 percent

* Post earnings per share of
$5.65 to $6.00

+ Complete branch and sales
expansion in top 25 U.S. markets
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The year 2007 was outstanding for Grainger. We achieved $6.4 billion in sales, up 9 percent,
and posted earnings per share of $4.94, up 17 percent.

In addition, we returned $760 million to shareholders through the purchase of 7.1 million
shares of stock and our quarterly dividends, which increased 21 percent. This was the 36th
straight year that Grainger raised its quarterly dividend.

The year was significant in a number of othier ways. We introduced more than 45,000
new products to our Grainger catalog and strengthened our presence in major markets,
Through our e-commerce channel alone, we generated more than $1 hillion in annual sales,
putting us amang the top U.S. online sellers,

This performance did not just happen. The hard work of our employees and their genuine
interest in our customers produced these terrific results.

A closer lock at 2007
Despite a slower-growing Nerth American economy, Grainger performed well... a testament
to our people serving customers even better. The investments we've made in technoiogy,
market expansion and product-line expansion are paying off,

Here's a business overview of 2007:
* Grainger's Branch-based segment recorded a 9 percent growth in sales, while improving
operating margins. A diverse group of customners contributed to the gain in market share,

including thase in government, commercial services and manufacturing.

* Our business in Mexico registered a 23 percent increase in sales. To capitalize on the
country’s ecanomic growth and help Grainger become the first national broad-line industrial
distributor, we expanded our logistics network - adding seven branches to give customers
greater access to our praducts.

» Acklands — Grainger, our Canadian business, completed the first full year of an impressive
tumaround, doubling operating earnings.

» Lab Safety Supply, our direct marketing business, grew by 6 percent, yet we can

do better. We're stepping up efforts to reinvigorate growth in Lab Safety by improving
our media offering — including new, innovative Web sites — and by pursuing carefully
selected acquisitions.

How Grainger creates lasting value
On the face of it, our company engages in some fairly straightforward activities: providing
maintenance, repair and operating (MRO) supplies to peaple who maintain facilities.
We take pride in making it lvck easy. Yet what appears simple or basic is far from it.
To do what we do - quickly, efficiently, consistently, profitably and with a human touch —
requires us to be a logistics organization ... a supply-chain expert...a sophisticated
information technology company. -
Most important, we are a customer-service specialist and a consultant to management.
And when an emergency strikes, we provide essential products to first responders and to
the community. In all of these ways, we are a key partner to the public and private sectors.
Our aim is to be known to our customers as their high-performance team.. . their
reliable, go-to source for vast preduct selection, fast turnaround, competitive pricing,
excellent counsel and superb service.




W.W. GRAINGER, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Poised to perform
As competition around the globe intensifies, businesses and institutions face constant
pressure to manage their costs and be more effective,

That's especially true for people who maintain facilities. To stay competitive and grow,
our customers need o make optimal use of their physical assets by streamlining procedures,
improving inventory management, consolidating suppliers and much more.

Grainger has the resources to assist the people who manage facilities and operations,
by helping them reduce costs, save time and ensure safe, comfortable working conditions.

Our company is positioned to compete in all phases of the economic cycle, and our
diversification is a major plus. Grainger customers represent every Standard Industrial
Classification (SIC) ccde in the United States, as well as virtually every level of government,
in every county in the United States. We're also well positioned in Canada and expanding in
Mexico and China.

Values driving performance

Grainger is distinguished by more than our products and the speed with which we deliver
them. Our employees place great importance on serving customers exceptionally well and on
establishing long-term relationships.

We also are deeply committed to our communities. Our employees demonstrate the spirit
of good corporate citizenship again and again, through their volunteer efforts and other
contributions. We believe that, as a company, Grainger can do the greatest long-term good by
focusing on two areas that allow us to leverage our expertise and assets: disaster response
and technical education.

Qur close association with the American Red Crass has led o our national spensorship
of Ready When the Time Comes, a Red Cross program that trains corporate volunteers in
disaster relief. And through collaboration with the American Association of Community Colleges,
we're investing in our country's future workforce through technical education and scholarships.

Looking ahead
Our strong financial performance and cash generation allow us to be opportunistic, giving us
greater latitude in planning for growth and determining our future. We continue to invest in
projects that advance our standing in the market and help us capture more business.

On March 1, 2008, Ronald L. Jadin, our Controller, will become Chief Financial Officer.
He is replacing P. Ogden Loux, our Chief Financial Officer for the past 11 years, who remains
with Grainger as Vice Chairman, providing me counsel on various business issues. This transition
is testimony to our proven succession planning process.

As we look at the world around us, we see plenty of opporiunity for growth. We intend to
capitalize on the opportunity — just as William Wallace Grainger did in 1927 when he started
this company — by providing great service, forming lasting relationships and pursuing our goal
to remain the leader iv our industry.

Sincerely,

Rty

R. L Keyser
February 27, 2008

SHARE REPURCHASES
Shares in millions
[
:
i
F
3
I 3
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
0.8 2.0 24 70 71
DIVIDENDS PAID
Dollars per share
SR
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
074 079 082 111 134




W.W, GRAINGER, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AT A GLANCE (s« 022708

Board Accountability
Board is elected by majority vote Yes
Majority of Direciors independent Yes
Separate Chairman and CEQ No
Independent Director with leadership role Yes
Independent Board Affairs and Nominating Committee Yes
Board meetings held or scheduled 5
Annual Board elections Yes
Corporate governance guidelines (Operating Principles) approved by the Board Yes
Independent Directors hold meetings without management present Yes
Board-approved succession plan in place Yes
Direclors are required to submit a resignation upon a substantive change

in career or vocation Yes
The performance of the Board is reviewed regularty Yes
The perfarmance of each Committee is reviewed regularly Yes
Board members conduct periodic individual seli-evaluations No
Board orientation/education program Yes
All Directors attended at least 75 percent of Board and Committee meetings Yes
Each Director serves on fewer than six boards of directors Yes
All Directars aftended the annual shareholders meeting on April 25, 2007 Yes
Financial Disclosure and Internal Controls
Charters for Audit, Campensation and Board Affairs and Nominating Committees Yes
Disclosure Committee function for financial reporting Yes
Independent Audit Committee Yes
Audit Committee has a financial expert Yes
Auditors elected at most recent annual meeting Yes
Company disclases financial performance targets Yes
Shareholder Rights
Shareholders have cumulative voting rights Yes
Shareholders may call special meetings Yes
Employees may vate their shares in company-sponsored plans Yes
All stock-based incentive plans have been approved by shareholders Yes
An independent tabulator tabulates shareholder votes Yes
Company has a shaceholder rights plan Yes
Company posts its articles of incorporation and bylaws on Web site Yes
Executive Compensation
Independent Compensation Committee Yes
Board Compensation Committee has independent compensation consultant Yes
Executive compensation is tied to performance; numeric eriteria are disclosed Yes
Corporate Behavior
A Company employee is tasked with ervironmental responsibilities Yes
Company has environmental, health and safety guidelines Yes
Environmental and workplace safety policy is disclosed Yes
Environmental performance is zudited by an outside firm No
Company publishes core vision and values statement Yes
Company cempares its govemance policies to external best practices Yes
Company has program {o monitor its policies on corruption and bribery Yes
Company has a code of ethics (Business Conduct Guidelines) Yes
Company has an ethics officer function Yes
Training on ethical behavior is required for &ll employees Yes

CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

Nationa! Founding Sponsor

(LR L] romimrcarsenocrrioonr |
=== WHEN THE TIME COMES™

In January 2008, Dick Keyser {center) served a dual role on the floor of the New
Yark Stock Exchange, ringing the opening bell and helping launch the Ready
When the Time Comes program in greater New York. Grainger is the national
founding sponsor and a key supporter of the American Red Cross effort.
“‘Courtesy NYSE Euronext!Phote by M. Nudelman™

Grainger has a deep resolve to give back to the community, dating
to the company's founding 81 years ago. During 2007, the company
danated $10 million to not-for-profit organizations. Employees can,
in effect, quadruple their own charitable contributions by taking
advantage of the company’s generous three-for-one match.

Additionally, Grainger sponsors many far-reaching initiatives aimed
at disaster relief and technical education. They include:

* Ready When the Time Comes national corporate
volunteer program

» Grainger Rebuilding America® program

+ Grainger Tools for Tomorrow® scholarship program

2007 CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

Cash Donations 12%

Matching Gifts 25% Product 63%




W.W. GRAINGER, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL SUMMARY
2007 2006 2005
Financial Net sales $6,418,014 $5,883,654 $5,526,636
Summary ($000) Earnings before income taxes and
cumulative effect of accounting change 681,861 603,023 532,674
Income taxes 261,741 219,624 186,350
Earnings before cumulative effect of accounting change 420,120 383,359 346,324
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — —
Net earnings 420,120 383,399 346,324
Working capital 974,414 1,166,763 1,290,188
Additions to property, buildings and equipment 188,867 127,814 112,297
Depreciation and amortization of property, buildings
and equipment 106,839 100,975 98,087
Current assets 1,800,817 1,862,086 1,985,639
Total assets 3,094,028 3,046,088 3,107,921
Shareholders' equity 2,098,108 2,177,615 2,288,976
Cash dividends paid 113,093 97,896 82,663
Long-term debt (less current maturities) 4,895 4,895 4,895
Per Share (3) Earnings - basic 5.10 4.36 3.87
Earnings — diluted 4.94 4,24 3.78
Cash dividends paid 1.340 1.110 0.920
Book value 26.40 25.90 25.51
Year-end stock price 87.52 69.94 71.10
Ratios Percent of return on average shareholders’ equity 19.7 17.2 15.6
Percent of return on average total capitalization 19.2 17.2 15.9
Earnings before income taxes and cumulative effect
of accounting change as a percent of net sales 10.6 10.2 9.6
Earnings before cumulative effect of accounting
change as a percent of net sales 6.6 6.5 6.3
Cash dividends paid as a percent of net earnings 26.9 25.5 23.9
Total debt as a percent of total capitalization 5.0 0.4 0.4
Current assets as a percent of total assets 58,2 61.1 63.9
Current assets to current liabilities 2.2 2.6 2.9
Average inventory turnover — LIFO 4.3 4.4 4.5
Average inventory turnover — FIFO 3.1 3.1 3.2
Other Data Average number of shares outstanding — basic 82,403,958 87,838,723 89,568,746
Average number of shares outstanding - diluted 85,044,963 90,623,774 91,688,295
Number of employees 18,036 17,074 16,732
Number of account managers 2,823 2,609 2,507
Number of branches 610 593 589
Number of products in the Grainger® catalog 139,000 115,000 82,400

Notes: 2002 net eamings include a charge for the cumulative effect of accounting change of $23,921,000, or $0.26 per share,
and special credits of $4,458,000, or $0.05 per share, for gains on sales of investment securities and $1,183,000, or
$0.07 per diluted share, lor the reduction of the reserves established in 2001.




W.W. GRAINGER, INC. ANC SUBSIDIARIES

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

$5,049,785 $4,667,014 $4,643,898 $4,754,317 $4,977,044 $4.636,275 $4,438,975 $4,226,941
445,139 381,090 397,837 297,280 331,595 303,750 400,847 389,636
168,216 154,119 182,349 122,750 138,692 123,019 162,343 157,803
286,923 206,971 235,488 174,530 192,903 180,731 238,504 231,833
— — (23,921 — — — — —
286,923 206,971 211,567 174,530 192,903 180,731 238,504 231,833
1,108,384 908,773 898,681 838,800 735,678 600,611 541,872 649,107
198,276 74,064 133,078 100,451 65,507 111,900 132,857 105,756
85,566 74,583 76,226 77,737 81,808 72,446 58,256 63,257
1,744,418 1,633,413 1,484,947 1,392,611 1,483,002 1,471,145 1,206,429 1,185,283
2,809,573 9,624,678 2,437 448 2,331,246 2,459,601 2,564,326 2,103,966 2,000,116
2,067,870 1,845,135 1,667,696 1,603,189 1,537,386 1,480,529 1,278,741 1,204 661
71,243 67,081 66,467 65,445 62,863 58,817 56,683 53,934
— 4,895 119,693 118,219 105,258 124,028 102,883 131,201
3.18 2,50 2.30 1.87 2.07 1.85 2.48 2.30
3.13 2.46 2.24 1.84 2.05 1.92 2.44 227
0.785 0.735 0.715 0.695 0.670 0.630 0.585 0.530
92.83 20.27 18.21 17.17 16,37 15.85 13.68 13.25
66.62 47.39 51.55 48.00 36.50 47.81 41.63 48.59
14.7 12.9 12.9 1.1 12.8 13.1 18.5 16.8
14.9 12.3 13.6 10.2 11.2 1.0 16.3 15.0
8.8 8.2 86 6.3 6.7 6.6 8.0 9.2
5.7 4.9 5.1 3.7 3.9 3.9 5.4 5.5

24.8 29.6 31.4 37.5 32.6 32.6 23.8 3.3 -
0.5 7.5 7.2 7.8 17.3 23.3 15.5 10.9
62.1 £2.2 60.9 50.7 80.3 57.4 57.3 59.3
2.7 2.3 0.5 2.5 2.0 1.7 1.8 22
46 4.4 45 4.7 4.6 4.1 4.4 4.1
3.3 2.9 3.2 3.3 3.9 3.2 24 3.2
90,206,773 90,731,013 91,982,430 93,189,132 93.003,313 92,336,596 $6,231,820 100,604,518
§1,673,375 92,394,085 94,303,497 94,727 868 94,223,815 94,315,479 47,846,658 102,178,852
15,523 14,701 15,236 15,385 16,192 16,730 15,270 15,154
2,154 1,741 1,650 1,641 1,708 1,879 1,887 1,847
582 575 575 579 5792 562 532 529
82,300 88,400 98,700 99,900 85,200 84,100 78,400 78,100

Notes: 2007 net earnings include a special charge of $36,650,000, or $0.39 per share, to establish a reserve refated

to the shutdown of Material Logic.

2000 net earnings include gains on the sales of investment securities of $17,860,000, or $0.19 per share.

Note on ROIC

The GAAP financial statements are the source for all amounts used in the Return on Invested Capital {ROIC) calculation. ROIC is caleulated using annualized
operating earnings based on year-to-date cperating earnings divided by a 13-point average for net working assets. Net working assets are working assets minus

working liabilities defined as follows: working assets equal total assets less cash equivalents (nonoperating cash), deferred taxes and investments in

unconsolidated entities, plus the LIFG reserve. Working liabilities are the sum of trade payabiles, accrued compensation and benefits, accrued contributiens to
employees' profit sharing plans and accrued expenses.




BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Brian P. Anderson
Former Executive Vice
Pres‘dent and Chief
Financial Officer,
OfficeMax Incorporated,
ltasca, Il

(1" 21

Wiltur H. Gantz
Executive Chairman,
Cvation
Pharnaceuticals Inc.,
Deerfield, .

1.2

V. Ann Hailey
Former Executive Vice
Pres dent, Limited
Brands, Inc.,
Columbus, Ohio

(1,2)

William K. Hall
Co-founder and
Chairman, Procyon
Technologies Inc.,
Downers Grove, lll.
(1,2)

Richard L. Keyser
Chairman of the
Board and Chief
Executive Officer

Stuart L. Levenick
Group President,
Caterpillar Inc.,
Pearia, lll,

(2,3

John W. McCarnrter, Jr.
Pres'dent and Chief
Executive Officer,

The Seld Museum of
Natural History,
Chicago, Il

{2*, 3}

W.W. GRAINGER, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Neil S. Novich
Former Chairman,
President and Chief
Executive Officer,
Ryerson Inc.,
Chicago, lll.

(2,3

Michael J. Roberts
Chief Executive

Officer and Founder,
Westside Holdings, LLC,
Chicago, lll

(2,3)

Gary L. Rogers

Farmer Vice Chairman,
General Electric Company,
Fairfield, Conn.

(2,9

James T. Ryan
President and Chief
Operating Officer

James D. Slavik
Chairman, Mark [V
Capital, Inc.,

Newport Beach, Calif.
1,2

Harold B. Smith
Chairman of the
Executive Committee,
{llinois Tool Works Inc.,
Glenview, lll.

(2, 3%

(1) Member of Audit Committee
{2) Member of Board Affairs and
Nominating Committee
{3) Member of Compensation Committee
* Committee Chair

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Richard k. Keyser
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

lames 7. Ryan
President and Chief Operating Officer

Y.C. Chen
President, Grainger Industrial Supply

Timothy M. Ferrarell
Senior Vice President, Enterprise Processes
and Systems

Nancy A. Hobor
Senior Vice President, Communications and
Investor Relations

John L. Howard
Senior Vice President and General Counsel

Ronaid L. Jadin
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer **

P. Ogden Loux
Vice Chairman **

Lawrence J. Pilon
Senior Vice President, Human Resources

John A. Schweig
Senior Vice President, Strategy and Development

** Effective March 1, 2008

OPERATING MANAGEMENT

Court D, Carruthers
Senior Vice President; President,
Acklands — Grainger Inc.

Patrick H. Davidson
Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing
U.S. Branch-based Business

Cesar A. Lanuza
Vice President, Country Manager,
Grainger, S.A. de C.V.

Larry ). Loizzo
Senior Vice President; President,
Lab Safety Supply, Inc.

D.G. Macpherson
Senior Vice President, Supply Chain
U.S. Branch-based Business ***

Bonnie J. Mcintyre
Vice President,
International Market Development

Michael A. Pulick
Senior Vice President, Customer Service
U.S. Branch-based Business

Steve Yin
Vice President and General Manager, China

“** Effective February 4, 2008




UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15{d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007

OR
LI TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 1-5684

W.W. Grainger, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Minois 36-1150280
{State or other jurisdiction of {1.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
100 Grainger Parkway, Lake Forest, lllinois 60045-5201
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(847) 535-1000
(Registrant's telephone number including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock $0.50 par value, and accompanying New York Stock Exchange
Preferred Share Purchase Rights Chicago Stock Exchange

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.

Yes __ X No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
Yes No___X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1834 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes _ X No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein,
and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated
by reference in Part Il of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [X]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer,” "accelerated filer" and “smaller reporting
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer [X] Accelerated filerf 1  Non-accelerated filer[ ]  Smaller reporting company [ ]
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
Yes No__ X

The éggregate market value of the voting common equity held by nonaffiliates of the registrant was $6,823,136,530 as
of the close of trading as reported on the New Yark Stock Exchange on June 30, 2007. The Company does not have
nonvoting cemmon equity.

The registrant had 78,963,866 shares of common stock outstanding as of January 31, 2008.
DOCUMENTS INCORPQRATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the proxy statement relating to the annual meeting of shareholders of the registrant to be held on
April 30, 2008, are incorporated by reterence into Part lIl hereof,
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PART I
Item 1: Business
The Company

W.W. Grainger, Inc., incorporated in the State of lllinois in 1928, is in the service business. It distributes products used
by businesses and institutions primarily across North America to keep their facilities and equipment running. In this
report, the words “Grainger” or “Company” mean W.W. Grainger, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Grainger uses a muitichannel business model to serve approximately 1.8 million customers of all sizes with multiple
ways to find and purchase facilities maintenance and other products through a network of branches, sales
representatives, call centers, catalogs and other direct marketing media and the Internet. Orders can be placed via
telephone, fax, Internet or in person. Products are available for immediate pick-up or for shipment,

Operations are managed and reported in three segments. The three reportable segments are Grainger Branch-based,
Acklands - Grainger Branch-based (Acklands — Grainger) and Lab Safety Supply, Inc. {Lab Safety). Grainger Branch-
based is an aggregation of the following business units: Grainger Industrial Supply (Industrial Supply), Grainger, S.A.
de C.V. (Mexico), Grainger Caribe Inc. {Puerto Rico) and Grainger China LLC (China). Acklands — Grainger is the
Company’s Canadian branch-based distribution business. Lab Safety is a direct marketer of safety and other
industrial products.

Grainger has internal business support functions which provide coordination and guidance in the areas of accounting,
administrative services, business development, communications, compensation and benefits, employee development,
enterprise systems, environmental, finance, health and safety, human resources, insurance and risk management,
internal audit, investor relations, legal, real estate and construction services, security, taxes and treasury services.
These services are provided in varying degrees to all business units.

Grainger does not engage in basic or substantive product research and development activities. ltems are regularly
added to and deleted from Grainger’s product lines an the basis of market research, customer demand,
recommendations of suppliers, sales volumes and other factors.

Grainger Branch-based

The Grainger Branch-based businesses provide customers with product solutions for facility maintenance and other
product needs through logistics networks which are configured for rapid product availability. Grainger offers a broad
selection of facility maintenance and other products through local branches, catalogs and the Internet. The mare
significant businesses in this segment are described below.

Industrial Supply

Industrial Supply offers U.S. businesses and institutions a combination of product breadth, local availability, speed of
delivery, detailed product information, simplicity of ordering and competitively priced products. Industrial Supply
distributes material handling equipment, safety and security supplies, lighting and electrical products, power and
hand tools, pumps and plurnbing supplies, cleaning and maintenance supplies and many other items. Its customers
range from small and medium-sized businesses to large corporations, governmental entities at local, state and federal
levels, and other institutions. During 2007, Industrial Supply completed an average of 92,000 sales transactions daily.

Industrial Supply operates 434 branches located in all 50 states. These branches are located within 20 minutes of the
majority of U.S. businesses and serve the immedtate needs of their local markets by allowing customers to pick up
items directiy from the branches.

Branches range in size from small, will-call branches to large master branches. The Grainger Express® will-call locations
average 2,200 square feet, do not stock inventory and provide convenient pick-up locations. Branches primarily fulfill
counter and will-call needs and provide customer service. Master branches handle counter and will-call customers, and
ship to customers for other branches and themselves. In total, branches average 21,000 square feet in size, have 13
employees and handle about 125 transactions per day. In 2007, Industrial Supply opened eight full-size and four will-
call branches, relocated 19 branches and expanded or remodeled 29 branches. In 2007, four branches were closed.

industrial Supply’s distribution network is comprised of nine distribution centers {DCs). Using automated equipment
and processes, the DCs handle most of the customer shipping and also replenish branch inventories.

Industrial Supply sells principally to customers in industrial and commercial maintenance departments, service shops,
manufacturers, hotels, government, retail organizations, transportation businesses, contractors, and healthcare and
educational facilities. Sales transactions during 2007 were made to approximately 1.4 million customers.
Approximately 23% of 2007 sales consisted of private label items bearing Grainger’s registered trademarks, including
DAYTON® (principally electric motors, heating and ventilation equipment, and liquid pumps), SPEEDAIRE® (air
compressors), AIR HANDLER® (air filtration equipment}), DEM-KOTE® (spray paints), WESTWARD® (principally hand and
power tools), CONDOR™ (safety products) and LUMAPRO® (task and outdoor lighting). Grainger has taken steps to
protect these trademarks against infringement and believes that they will remain available for future use in its business.
Sales of remaining items generally consisted of products carrying the names of other well-recognized brands.




The Industrial Supply catalog, most recently issued in February 2008, offers aimost 183,000 facility maintenance and
other products. Approximately 1.8 million copies of the catalog were produced.

Customers can also purchase products through grainger.com. This Web site serves as a prominent service channel
for the Industrial Supply division. Customers have access to more than 400,000 products through grainger.com. It is
available 24/7, providing real-time product availability, customer-specific pricing, multiple product search capabilities,
customer personalization, and links to custemer support and the fuffillment system. For large customers interested in
connecting to grainger.com through sophisticated purchasing platforms, grainger.com has a universal connection.
This technology translates the different data formats used by electronic marketplaces, exchanges, and e-procurement
systems and allows these systems to communicate directly with Industrial Supply's operating platform.

Industrial Supply purchases products for sale from approximately 1,400 suppliers, most of which are manufacturers.
No single supplier comprised more than 5% of Industrial Supply's purchases and no significant difficulty has been
encountered with respect to sources of supply.

Through a global sourcing operation, Industrial Supply procures competitively priced, high-quality products produced
outside the Uniced States from approximately 230 suppliers. Grainger businesses sell these items primarily under
private labels. Products obtained through the global sourcing operation include DAYTON® motors, WESTWARD®
tools, LUMAPRO® lighting products and CONDOR™ safety praducts, as well as products bearing other trademarks.

Mexico

Grainger's operations in Mexico provide local businesses with facility maintenance and other products from both
Mexico and the United States. In 2007, Mexico opened five branches and two master branches bringing their total
number of locations to 15. The business ships preducts to customers as well as fulfills counter and will-call needs.
The largest fac lity, an 85,000 square foot DC, is located outside of Monterrey, Mexico. During 2007, approximately
950 transactioris were completed daily. Customers have access to approximately 35,000 products through a
Spanish-language catalog or through grainger.com.mx.

China
Grainger operztes in China from a 126,000 square foot DC with a showroom located in Shanghai and five surrounding

will-call locations. Customers have access to approximately 30,000 products through a Chinese-language catalog or
through graingzr.com.cn.

Acktands — Grainger Branch-based

Acklands - Grainger is Canada's leading broad-line distributor of industrial and safety supplies. It serves customers
through 153 branches and five DCs across Canada. Acklands - Grainger distributes too!s, fasteners, safety supplies,
instruments, welding and shop equipment, and many other items. During 2007, approximately 14,000 sales
transactions weare completed daily. A comprehensive catalog, printed in both English and French, showcases the
product line to facilitate customer selection. This catalog, with more than 56,000 products, supports the efforts of
account managers and branch personnel throughout Canada. In addition, customers can purchase products through
acklandsgrainger.com, a fully bilingual Web site.

Lab Safety

Lab Safety is a direct marketer of safety and other industrial products to U.S. and Canadian businesses. Headquartered
in Janesville, Wisconsin, Lab Safety primarily reaches its customers through the distribution of multiple branded
catalogs and other marketing materials distributed throughout the year to targeted markets. Brands include LSS,

Ben Meadows (forestry), Gempler's (agriculture}, AW Direct (service vehicle accessories), Rand Materials (material
handling), Profassional Inspection Equipment and Construction Book Express (building and home inspection) and
McFeely's Square Drive Screws (waodworking). Customers can purchase products by telephone, fax or through
Iss.com and other branded Web sites.

Lab Safety offers extensive product depth, technical support and high service levels. During 2007, Lab Safety issued
13 unique catzlogs covering safety supplies, material handling and facility maintenance products, lab supplies,
security and other products targeted to specific customer groups. Lab Safety provides access to approximately
163,000 products through its targeted catalogs and distributes products from two DCs.
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Industry Segments

Operations are managed and reported in the following three segments: Grainger Branch-based, Acklands — Grainger
and Lab Safety. Grainger Branch-based is an aggregation of the following business units: Grainger Industrial Supply,
Grainger, S.A. de C.V., Grainger Caribe Inc. and Grainger China LLC. Acklands - Grainger is the Company's
Canadian branch-based distribution business. Lab Safety is a direct marketer of safety and other industrial products.
For segment and gecgraphical information and consolidated net sales and operating earnings see “ltem 7:
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and Note 18 to

the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Competition

Grainger faces competition in all markets it serves, from manufacturers {including some of its own suppliers) that sell
directly to certain segments of the market, wholesale distributors, catalog houses and retail enterprises.

Grainger provides local product availability, sales representatives, competitive pricing, catalogs (which include
product descriptions and, in certain cases, extensive technical and application data), electronic and Internet
commerce technology and other services to assist customers in lowering their total facility maintenance costs.
Grainger believes that it can effectively compete with manufacturers on small orders, but manufacturers may have
an advantage in filling large orders.

Grainger serves a number of diverse markets. Based on available data, Grainger estimates the North American
market for facilities maintenance and related products to be more than $145 billion, of which Grainger's share is
approximately 4 percent. There are several large competitors, although most of the market is served by small local
and regional competitors.

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, Grainger had 18,036 employees, of whom 15,732 were {ull-time and 2,304 were part-time
or temporary. Grainger has never had a major work stoppage and considers employee relations to be good.

Web Site Access to Company Reports

Grainger makes available, free of charge, through its Web site, its Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Farm 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably
practicable after this material is electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission.
This material may be accessed by visiting grainger.com/investor.

Item 1A: Risk Factors

The following is a discussion of significant risk factors relevant to Grainger's business that could adversely affect its
financial position or results of operations,

A slowdown in economic activity could negatively impact Grainger’s sales growth. Economic and industry trends
affect Grainger's business environments. Grainger's sales growth has tended to correlate with commercial activity,
manutacturing output and nen-farm employment levels. Thus, a slowdown in economic activity could negatively
impact Grainger's sales growth.

The facilities maintenance industry is a highly fragmented industry, and competition could result in a
decreased demand for Grainger’s products and services. There are several large competitors in the industry,
although most of the market is served by small local and regional competitors. Grainger faces competition in all
markets it serves, from manufacturers {including some of its own suppliers) that sell directly to certain segments of
the market, wholesale distributors, catalog houses and retail enterprises. Competitive pressures could adversely
affect Grainger’s sales and profitability.

Unexpected product shortages could negatively impact customer relationships, resulting in an adverse
impact on results of aperations. Grainger's competitive strengths include product selection and availability.
Products are purchased from approximately 3,000 key suppliers, no one of which accounts for more than 5% of
purchases. Historically, no significant difficulty has been encountered with respect to sources of supply. If Grainger
were to experience difficulty in obtaining products, there could be a short-term adverse effect on results of operations
and a longer-term adverse effect on customer relationships and Grainger’s reputation. In addition, Grainger has
strategic relationships with key vendors. In the event Grainger was unable to maintain those relations, there might

be a loss of competitive pricing advantages which could in turn adversely affect results of operations.
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A delay in the completion or lower than projected results from Grainger’'s multiyear market expansion program
could negatively affect anticipated future sales growth. In 2004, Grainger launched a six phase market expansion
program in the United States to strengthen its presence in top metropolitan markets and better position itself to serve
the local custorner. The program is being implemented in these markets in a phased approach. The success of the
market expansion program is expected to be a driver of growth in 2008 and beyond. The first phase of the market
expansion program was completed in 2005. Thelsecond, third and fourth phases of the market expansion program
were completed in 2007. Phases five and six were more than 50% complete at December 31, 2007, and are expected
to be completed during 2008. A delay in the completion of the program or lower than projected results from the
program could negatively impact anticipated future sales growth.

The addition of new product lines could impact future sales growth, Grainger, from time to time, expands the
breadth of its offerings by increasing the number of products it distributes. In 2006, Grainger launched a multiyear
product line expansion program. The success of the expansion program is expected to be a driver of growth in
2008 and beyond. The success of these expansions will depend on Grainger's ability to accurately forecast market
demand, obtain products from suppliers and effectively integrate these products into the supply chain.

Interruptions in the proper functioning of information systems could disrupt operations and cause
unanticipated increases in costs or decreases in revenues, or both. The proper functioning of Grainger's
information systems is critical to the successful operation of its business. Although Grainger’s information systems

are protected through physical and software safeguards and remote processing capabilities exist, information systems
are still vulnerzble to natural disasters, power losses, unauthorized access, telecommunication failures and other
problems. I critical information systems fait or are otherwise unavailable, Grainger's ability to process orders, identify
business opportunities, maintain proper levels of inventories, collect accounts receivable, pay expenses and maintain
the security of Company and customer data could be adversely affected.

in order to compete, Grainger must attract, retain and motivate key employees, and the failure to do so could

have an adverse effect on results of operations. In order to compete and have continued growth, Grainger must

attract, retain and motivate executives and other key employees, including those in managerial, technical, sales,

marketing and support positions. Grainger competes to hire employees, and then must train them and develop their

skills and competencies. Grainger’s operating results could be adversely affected by increased costs due to

increased competition for employees, higher employee turnover or increased employee benefit costs. !

Changes in accounting standards, subjective assumptions and estimates used by management related to

complex accounting matters could have an adverse effect on results of operations. Generally accepted !
accounting principles in the United States and related accounting pronouncements, implementation guidance and i
interpretations with regard to a wide range of matters, such as stock-based compensation, insurance and inventory :
reserves, income taxes and postretirement healthcare benefits are highly complex and involve many subjective

assumptions, estimates and judgments by management. Changes in these rules or their interpretations or changes in
underlying assumptions, estimates or judgments by management could significantly change reported results.

item 1B: Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2: Properties

As of December 31, 2007, Grainger's owned and leased facilities totaled 19,731,000 square feet, an increase of !
approximately 3% from December 31, 2006. This increase primarily related to the market expansion program. '
Industrial Supply and Acklands — Grainger accounted for the majority of the total square footage. Industrial Supply .
facilities are located throughout the United States and Acklands — Grainger facilities are located throughout Canada. i

Industrial Supply branches range in size from 1,200 to 109,000 square feet and average approximately 21,000 square
feet. Most are located in or near major metropolitan areas with many located in industrial parks. Typically, a branch

is on one floor, consists primarily of warehouse space, sales areas and offices and has off-the-street parking for
customers and employees. Grainger believes that its properties are generally in good condition and well maintained.




A brief description of significant facilities follows:

Sizein

Square Feet
Location Facility and Use (6) (in 000’'s)
United States (1) 434 Industrial Supply branch locations 9,686
United States (2) Nine Distribution Centers 5,100
United States (3) Four Lab Safety facilities 826
International (4) Other facilities 628
Canada (5) 164 Acklands — Grainger facilities 2,164
Chicago Area Headquarters and General Offices 1,327

Total Square Feet 19,731

(1) Industrial Supply branches consist of 285 owned and 149 leased properties and other properties under
construction. Most leases expire between 2008 and 2017,

(2) These facilities are all owned.

(3) Lab Safety facilities consist of general offices and a distribution center which are owned, one leased office facility,
one leased storage {acility and one leased distribution center.

(4) Other facilities include owned and leased locations for Puerto Rico, Mexico and China.

{5) Acklands - Grainger facilities consist of general offices, distribution centers and branches, of which 55 are owned
and 109 leased.

{6) Owned facilities are not subject to any mortgages.

ltem 3: Legal Proceedings

Grainger has been named, along with numercus other nonaffiliated companies, as a defendant in litigation in various
states involving asbestos and/for silica. These lawsuits typically assert claims of personal injury arising from alleged
exposure to asbestos and/for silica as a consegquence of products purportedly distributed by Grainger. As of January 14,
2008, Grainger is named in cases filed on behalf of approximately 2,800 plaintiffs in which there is an allegation of
exposure to asbestos and/or silica.

Grainger has denied, or intends to deny, the allegations in all of the above-described lawsuits. In 2007, lawsuits
relating to asbestos and/for silica and involving approximately 250 plaintiffs were dismissed with respect to Grainger,
typically based on the lack of product identification. If a specific product distributed by Grainger is identified in any
of these lawsuits, Grainger would attempt to exercise indemnification remedies against the product manufacturer. In
addition, Grainger believes that a substantiai number of these claims are covered by insurance. Grainger is engaged
in active discussions with its insurance carriers regarding the scope and amount of coverage. While Grainger is
unable to predict the outcome of these lawsuits, it believes that the ultimate resolution will not have, either individually
or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on Grainger's consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Grainger is a party o a contract with the United States General Services Administration (the *GSA™) first entered into in
1999 and subsequently extended in 2004. The GSA contract has been the subject of an ongoing audit performed by
the GSA’s Office of the Inspector General (the “0O1G”) and Grainger has previously responded to subpoenas issued
by the OIG in connection with its audit. In December of 2007, Grainger received a letter from the Justice Department’s
Commergial Litigation Branch of the Civil Division suggesting that Grainger had not complied with the GSA contract’s
disclosure obligations and pricing provisions, and had potentially overcharged government customers under the
contract. On January 29, 2008, the Justice Department intervened in a civil "qui tam” action previously filed under

seal by a former employee of Grainger in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin relating to the
GSA contract. The comptaint alleges that Grainger failed to comply with pricing provisions of the GSA contract and
that sales made by Grainger pursuant to the contract violated the Buy American Act and Trade Agreement Act. The
complaint seeks various remedies including treble damages, statutory penalties and disgorgement of profits. Although
Grainger believes that it has complied with the GSA contract in all material respects, it is unable, at this time, to predict
the ocutcome of this matter.

In addition to the foregoing, from time to time Grainger is involved in various other legal and administrative proceedings
that are incidental 1o its business, including claims relating to product liability, general negligence, environmental issues,
employment, intellectual property and other matters. As a government contractor, from time ta time Grainger is also subject
to governmental or regulatory inquiries or audits or other proceedings, including those related to pricing compliance and
Trade Agreement Act compliance. It is not expected that the ultimate resolution of any of these matters will have, either
individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on Grainger's consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Item 4: Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
No rmatters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2007.




Executive Officers

Following is information about the Executive Officers of Grainger including age as of February 27, 2008. Executive
Officers of Grainger generally serve until the next annual election of officers, or until earlier resignation or removal.

Name and Age

Positions and Offices Held and Principal
Occupations and Employment During the Past Five Years

Court D. Carruthers (35)

Y. C. Chen (60)

Nancy A. Hobor (61)
John L. Howard (50)
Ronald L. Jadin (47)

Richard L. Keyser (65)
Larry J. Loizzo (53)

P. Ogden Loux (65}
James T. Ryar (49)

Senior Vice President, a position assumed in 2007, and President of Acklands - Grainger Inc.,
a position assumed in 2006, Prior to assuming the last-menticned position, Mr. Carruthers
served as Vice President, National Accounts and Sales of Acklands — Grainger Inc.

President, Grainger Industrial Supply, a position assumed in 2007. Mr. Chen had previously
been the Company's Group President, a position assumed in 20086 after serving as Senior
Vice President, Supply Chain Management, a position assumed in 2003.

Senior Vice President, Communications and Investor Relations, a position assumed in 1999,
Senior Vice President and General Counsel, a position assumed in 2000.

Vice President and Controller, a position assumed in 2006 after serving as Vice President,
Finance - Grainger Industrial Supply, a position assumed in 2000.

Chairman of the Board, a position assumed in 1997, and Chief Executive Officer, a position
assumed in 1995.

Senior Vice President of the Company, a position assumed in 2003, and President of Lab
Safety Supply, Inc., a position assumed in 1996.

Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer, positions assumed in 1897,

President and Chief Operating Officer, a position assumed in 2007. Mr. Ryan had previously
been the Company’s President, a position assumed in 2008 after serving as Group
President. Before assuming that position in 2004, Mr. Ryan had been Executive Vice
President, Marketing, Sales and Service since 2001.

PARTII

Item 5: Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases

of Equity Securities
Market Information and Dividends
Grainger's coramon stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and the Chicage Stock Exchange, with the ticker

symbol GWW. The high and low sales prices for the common stock and the dividends declared and paid for each
calendar quarier during 2007 and 2006 are shown below,

Prices
Quarters High Low Dividends
2007  First $80.37 $68.77 $0.29
Second 94.75 76.00 0.35
Third 98.60 79.38 0.35
Fourth 96.00 84.40 0.35
Year $98.60 $68.77 $1.34
2006  First $76.59 $69.30 $0.24
Second 78.85 68.22 0.29
Third 76.21 60.60 0.29
Fourth 75.90 65.86 0.29
Year $79.95 $60.60 $1.11

Grainger expects that its practice of paying quarterly dividends on its Common Stock will continue, although the
payment of future dividends is ai the dis¢retion of Grainger's Board of Directors and will depend upon Grainger's
earnings, capital requirements, financial condition and other factors.

Holders

The approximate number of shareholders of record of Grainger's common stock as of January 31, 2008, was 1,100
with approximately 39,500 additional shareholders holding stock through nominees.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities — Fourth Quarter

Total Number of Maximum Number
Average Shares Purchased of Shares that May
Total Number Price as Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased
of Shares Paid per Announced Plans Under the Plans

Period Purchased (A) Share (B) or Programs (C) or Programs
Oct. 1-0ct. 31, — — — 4,683,993 shares
Nov. T-Nov. 30 ..., — — — 4,683,993 shares
Dec. 1-0ecC. 31 ..o — — — 4,683,993 shares

Total .o — — —

(A) There were no shares withheld to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of employee

restricted stock awards.

(B) Average price paid per share includes any commissions paid and includes only those amounts related to

(C)

purchases as part of publicly announced plans or programs. Activity is reported on a trade date basis.

During the first six months of 2007, purchases were made pursuant 1o a share repurchase program approved by
Grainger's Board of Directors on October 18, 2008. A total of 4,010,200 shares were acquired under this
authorization. Effective August 17, 2007, the Board of Directors granted authority to restore the repurchase
praogram to 10 million shares.

On August 20, 2007, Grainger entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement (ASR) with Goldman, Sachs
& Co. (Goldman) to purchase $500 million of its outstanding common stock. Grainger paid Goldman $500 million on
August 23, 2007, in exchange for an initial delivery of 5,316,007 shares. The ASR was treated as an equity transaction.
At settlement, Grainger was to receive or pay additional shares of its commpon stock or cash (at Grainger's option),
based upon the volume weighted average price during the term of the agreement. The ASR was completed on
January 4, 2008. See Note 22 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion related to the ASR.

Company Performance

The following stock price performance graph compares the cumulative total return on an investment in Grainger
common stock with the cumulative total return of an investment in each of the S&P 500 Stock Index and the Dow Jones
Wilshire 5000 Industrial Supplier Index. It covers the period commencing December 31, 2002, and ending December
31, 2007. The graph assumes that the value for the investment in Grainger common stock and in each index was $100
on December 31, 2002, and that all dividends were reinvested.
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Other

On May 1, 20C7, Grainger timely submitted to the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) an Annual CEO Certification, in
which Grainger's Chief Executive Officer certified that he was not aware of any violation by Grainger of the NYSE's
corporate governance listing standards as of the date of the certification.

Item 6: Selected Financial Data

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In thousands of dollars, except for per share amounts)

NetsaleS ..o, $6,418,014 $5,883,654 $5,526,636 $5,049,785 $4,667,014
Net earmings .....ocoeeirvivenircnereenn, 420,120 383,398 346,324 286,923 226,971
iNet earnings per basic share ....... 5.10 4.36 3.87 3.18 2.50
Net earnings ger diluted share ..... 4.94 4.24 3.78 3.13 2.46
Total assets ..o, 3,094,028 3,046,088 3,107,921 2,809,573 2,624 678
Long-term debt

(less current maturities) ............. 4,895 4,895 4,895 -— 4,895
Cash dividends paid per share ... $ 1340 $ 1110 $ 0920 $ 0785 $ 0735

Efiective January 1, 2006, Grainger adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123R, “Share-
Based Payment,” for the accounting of employee stock-based compensation using the modified prospective method.
The eftect of the adoption was an approximately $0.14 earnings per share reduction for 2006. See Note 12 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of information related to SFAS No. 123R.

The results for 2006 included an effective tax rate, excluding the equity in net income of unconsolidated entities, of
36.7%, compared to 38.5% in 2007. The 2006 rate included tax benefits from the resolution of uncertainties related to
the audit of the: 2004 tax year and a tax benefit from a reduction of deferred tax liabilities related to property, buildings
and equipment. These benefits increased diluted earnings per share by $0.15.

The results for 2005 included an effective tax rate, excluding the equity in net income of unconsclidated entities, of
35.2%. The 2075 rate included tax benefits related to a favorable revision to the estimate of income taxes for various
state taxing jurisdictions and the resolution of certain federal and state tax contingencies. These benefits increased
diluted earnings per share by $0.10.

The results for 2004 included an effective tax rate, excluding the equity in net income of unconsclidated entities, of
35.6%, which was down from 40.0% in the prior year. The lower tax rate resulted in an increase of $0.21 per diluted
share. The tax rate reduction was primarily due to a lower tax rate in Canada, the realization of tax benefits related to
operations in Mexico and to capital losses, the recognition of tax benefits from the "Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003" and the resolution of certain federal and state tax contingencies.

For further information see “ltem 7: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.”

item 7: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview

General. Grainger is the leading broad-line supplier of facilities maintenance and other related products in North
America. Grainger reports its operating results in three segments: Grainger Branch-based, Acklands - Grainger Branch-
based (Acklands - Grainger) and Lab Safety Supply, Inc. (Lab Safety). Grainger distributes a wide range of products
used by businesses and institutions to keep their facilities and equipment up and running. Grainger uses a multichannel
business model to provide customers with a range of options for finding and purchasing products through a network
of branches, sales representatives, direct marketing including catalogs, and a variety of electronic and Internet
channels. Grainger serves customers through a network of 610 branches, 18 distribution centers and multiple Web sites.

Business Environmemnt. Several economic factors and industry trends shape Grainger’s business environment,
The current overall economy and leading economic indicators provide insight into anticipated economic factors for
the near term and help in forming the development of projections for the upcoming year. Consensus Forecast-USA
projected 2008 GDP growth of 1.6% and Industrial Production growth of 1.1% for the United States, a decrease from
2007 estimates of 2.2% and 1.9%, respectively. For Canada, Consensus Forecast-USA projected 2008 GDP growth of
1.8%, below the 2007 estimate of 2.6%.

In 2007, Grainger benefited from the economic growth in the United States. Grainger’s sales correlate positively with
industrial production growth. With the improvement in Industrial Production and general growth in the economy, Grainger
realized an increase in sales across all customer sectors. Grainger’s sales also tend to increase when non-farm payrolls
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grow, especially during economic recoveries. Non-farm payrolls increased approximately 1% on average in 2007 over
2006. For 2007, Grainger benefited from the combination of increased Industrial Production and non-farm payroll growth,

The light and heavy manufacturing customer sectors, which comprised mere than 25% of Grainger's total 2007 sales,
have historically correlated with manufacturing employment levels and manufacturing production. Manufacturing
employment levels in the United States declined approximately 1% on average in 2007 from 20086, however,
manufacturing output increased approximately 2%. This contributed to mid single-digit sales growth in the heavy
manufacturing and light manufacturing customer sectors for Grainger in 2007.

In 2004, Grainger launched a multiyear initiative in the United States to strengthen its presence in top metropolitan
markets and better position itself to serve the local customer. The market expansion program contributed to the sales
growth in 2007 and is expected to be a driver of growth in 2008 and beyond. The first phase of the market expansion
program was completed in 2005. The second, third and fourth phases of the market expansion program were completed
in 2007. Phases five and six were more than 50% complete at December 31, 2007, and are expected to be completed
during 2008.

In 2006, Grainger launched a multiyear product line expansion program in the United States. Over the past two
years, Grainger has added approximately 90,000 new products to supplement Industrial Supply's plumbing, fastener,
material handling and security product lines. The product line expansion program contributed to the sales growth in
2007 and is expected to be a driver of growth in 2008 and beyond. In 2008, Grainger plans to add an additional
50,000 products to further supplement Industrial Supply's product lines.

Customer buying behavior is also important in Grainger's business environment. Grainger believes that customers will
continue to focus on reducing their cost to procure facilities maintenance products. Consequently, during 2006, Grainger
increased information available to employees for improved service to customers by installing an upgraded SAP branch
operating system as part of an overall conversion to an integrated SAP system in the U.S. branch-based business.

Grainger's financial strength enables it to fund major initiatives and acquisitions and to improve effectivengss. Capital
spending in 2007 for the U.S. market expansion program was approximately $88 million, with total capital expenditures
of $196 million.

For 2008, Grainger anticipates total capital expenditures of $175 miilion to $200 million. Grainger intends to continue
its investrment in the market expansion program and information technology enhancements, with spending planned for
the following major projects:

*  $50 million to $60 million for U.S. market expansion;
$25 million to $30 million for supply chain infrastructure;
$20 million to $30 mitlion for information technology;
$15 million to $25 million for international expansion.

Lease or purchase decisions, based on availability of facilities, may affect the timing and amount of capital expenditures
associated with the market expansion program.

Matters Affecting Comparability. There were 255 sales days in 2007, compared to 254 sales days in 2006 and
255 sales days in 2005.

Grainger’s operating results for 2007 include the operating results of McFeely's Square Drive Screws (McFeely’s) from
the acquisition date of May 31, 2007. The results of the acquisition are included in the Lab Safety segment.

Effective January 1, 2006, Grainger adopted SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” for the accounting of employee
stock-based compensation using the modified prospective method. The effect of the adoption was an approximately
$0.14 earnings per share reduction for 2006. See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements far further
discussion of information related to SFAS No. 123R.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, Grainger adopted SFAS No. 158, "Employers’ Accounting for Defined Bengfit Pension
and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132R.” As a result of the
adoption, Grainger recorded an additional liability of $36.8 million to Accrued employment-related benefit costs offset by
$14.3 million of deferred income taxes and a reduction of Accumulated other comprehensive earnings of $22.5 million.
See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of infarmation related to SFAS No. 158.

Grainger's operating results for 2006 include the operating results of Rand Materials Handling Equipment Co. (Rand) from
the acquisition date of January 31, 2006. Grainger's operating results for 2006 also include the operating results of
Professional Inspection Equipment, Inc. {Professional Equipment) and Construction Book Express, Inc. {Construction Book)
from the acquisition date of November 17, 2006. The results of these acquisitions are included in the Lab Safety segment.

Grainger's operating results for 2005 include the operating results of AW Direct from the acquisition date of January 14,
2005. AW Direct's results are included in the Lab Safety segment.
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Results of Operations
The following table is included as an aid to understanding changes in Grainger's Consolidated Statements of Earnings:
For the Years Ended December 31,

Items in Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Percent
Increase/(Decrease)
As a Percent of Net Sales from Prior Year

2007 2006 2005 2007 2006
NEL SAIES.....vvvvei et e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 21% 6.5%
Cost of merchandise sold ....................... 59.4 60.0 60.9 8.1 4.9
Gross Profit......c.coeeeieieiei e 40.6 40.0 381 10.6 8.9
Operating expenses.....cocvev e ieee e 30.1 30.2 297 8.8 8.1
Operating earnings ........ccoccovevvvveiniene 10.5 9.8 8.4 18.0 11.4
Other income (expense)..........cccceevvveeee 0.2 0.4 0.3 (55.1) 823
INCOME TAXES vt 41 3.7 3.4 19.2 17.8
Net @armiNgs ......coovevviicee e 6.6% 6.5% 6.3% 9.6% 10.7%

2007 Compared to 2006

Grainger's net szles of $6,418.0 million for 2007 increased 9.1% when compared with net sales of $5.883.7 million for
2006, There was one more selling day in 2007 versus 2006. Daily sales were up 8.7%. The increase in net sales was
led by sales growth in the upper teens in the government sector, high single-digit sales growth in the commercial
sector and mid single-digit sales growth in the manufacturing sector. Approximately 3 percentage points of the sales
growth came from Grainger's ongoing strategic initiatives, market expansion and product line expansion, with another
1 percentage point from foreign exchange. Partially offsetting these sales improvements was a negative 1 percentage
point effect from the continued wind-down of low margin integrated supply contracts. Refer to the Segment Analysis
below for further detail of Grainger’s ongoing strategic initiatives.

The gross profit margin for 2007 improved 0.6 percentage point to 40.6% from 40.0% in 2006. The improvement in
the gross profit rnargin was primarily driven by positive inflation recovery, partially offset by unfavorable selling price
category mix.

Operating earnings for 2007 totaled $670.7 million, an increase of 16.0% over 20086. This earnings improvement
exceeded the sales growth rate due to an improved gross profit margin and operating expenses which grew at a
slightly slower rete than sales.

Net earnings for 2007 increased by 9.6% to $420.1 miilion from $383.4 million in 2008. The growth in net earnings
for 2007 primarily resulted from the improvement in operating earnings, partially offset by lower interest income, no
counterpart to a gain on the sale of Acklands - Grainger's interest in the USI-AGI Prairies joint venture in 2006, and a
higher effective tax rate in 2007. The results for 2006 included tax benefits from the resolution of uncertainties related
to the audit of the 2004 tax year and a tax benefit from a reduction of deferred tax liabilities related to property,
buildings and equipment. These benefits increased diluted earnings per share by $0.15 in 20086. Diluted earnings
per share of $4.94 in 2007 were 16.5% higher than the $4.24 for 2006. This improvermnent was higher than the
percentage increase for net earnings due to the effect of Grainger’s share repurchase program.

Segment Analysis

The following commenits at the segment level include external and intersegment net sales and operating earnings.
Comments at the business unit level include external and inter- and intrasegment net sales and operating earnings.
See Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Grainger Branch-based

Net sales were '55,352.5 million for 2007, an increase of $441.7 million, or 9.0%, when compared with net sales of
$4,910.8 million for 20086. Daily sales were up 8.6%. Daily sales in the United States were up 8.56%, with growth in all
customer end markets, led by sales growth in the upper teens in the government sector and high single-digit sales
growth in the commercial sector. Approximately 4 percentage points of the sales growth came from Grainger’s
ongoing stratecic initiatives, market expansion and product line expansion. The wind-down of Grainger’s low margln
integrated supply contracts reduced sales growth by approximately 1 percentage point.

In 2004, Grainger launched a multiyear market expansion program to strengthen its presence in top metropalitan
markets and better position itself to serve local customers,
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Market expansion contributed approximately 2 percentage points to the sales growih for the segment. Results for the
market expansion program were as follows:

Daily Sales Estimated
Increase Percent

2007 vs, 2006 Complete
Phase 1 (Atlanta, Denver, Seattle).........coociii e 15% 100%
Phase 2 (Four markets in Southern California) ..., 6% 100%
Phase 3 (Houston, St. Louis, TamPa) ...t 13% 100%
Phase 4 (Baltimore, Cincinnati, Kansas City, Miami, Philadelphia, Washingten, D.C.)...... 10% 100%
Phase 5 (Dallas, Detroit, New YOrk, PROBNIX)........ccoivviivrivimririieeesie e ae e 9% 75%
Phase 6 (Chicage, Minneapolis, Pittshurgh, San Francisco) ......c.coocooeviiiiiiiiee 9% 65%

Product line expansion contributed approximately 2 percentage points to the growth in the segment. Over the past two
years, Grainger has added approximately 90,000 new products in the plumbing, fastener, material handling and
security product lines as part of its ongoing product line expansion initiative.

Daily sales in Mexico increased 22.7% in 2007 versus 2008. In local currency, daily sales were up 22.8%, driven
primarily by the ongoing branch expansion program and an improved economy.

The segment gross profit margin increased 0.4 percentage point in 2007 over 2006, driven primarily by positive
inflation recovery, partially offset by unfavorable selling price category mix.

Cperating expenses in this segment were up 9.0% in 2007. Expenses grew at the same rate as salas with payroll and
benefits growing at a slower rate than sales offset by other cperating expenses growing faster than sales, primarily
due to increased bad debt expense and provisions and higher facility costs related to market expansion.

For the segment, operating earnings of $669.4 million for 2007 increased 12.8% over the $593.5 million for 2006. This
earnings improvement exceeded the sales growth rate due to an improved gross profit margin.

Acklands — Grainger Branch-based

Net sales at Acklands — Grainger were $636.5 million for 2007, an increase of $71.4 million, or 12.6%, when compared
with $565.1 million for 2006. Daily sales were up 12.2%. In local currency, daily sales increased 5.8% due to a
stronger economy. This increase was led by the mining sector with sales growth in the low twenties, high single-digit
sales growth in the oil sector and mid single-digit sales growth in the government sector. These increases were
partially offset by a mid-teens sales decline in the forestry sector.

The gross profit margin increased 2.6 percentage points in 2007 over 2006, The improvement in the gross profit
margin was primarily due to positive inflation recovery.

Operating expenses were up 6.7% in 2007. Expenses grew at a slower rate than sales due to operating expense
leverage, the result of improved cost management and lower severance costs.

Operating earnings of $44.2 million for 2007 were up $29.0 million, or 190%. This earnings improvement exceeded the
sales growth rate due to an improved gross profit margin and operating expenses that grew at a slower rate than sales.
Lab Safety

Net sales at Lab Safety were $434.7 million for 2007, an increase of $23.2 million, or 5.6%, when compared with
$411.5 million for 2006. Daily sales were up 5.2%. Sales from the acquisitions made during 2007 and late 2006
contributed 6.1 percentage points to the growth.

The gross prefit margin decreased 0.5 percentage point in 2007 aver 2006. Gross profit margin was down as a result
of increased freight costs and unfavorable selling price category mix and product mix, partially offset by positive
inflation recovery.

Operating expenses were 4.6% higher in 2007 and grew at a slower rate than sales due to cost management efforts.

Operating earnings of $54.3 million for 2007 were up 3.8% over 2006. This earnings improvement was less than the
sales growth rate primarily due to a lower gross profit margin.
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Other Income and Expense

Other income and expense was $11.2 million of income in 2007, a decrease of $13.8 million as compared with
$25.0 million of income in 2006, The following table surnmarizes the components of other income and expense:

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2007 2006
(In thousands of dollars)

Other income: and (expense):

Interest INCOME (EXPENSEY = NBL ... ettt $ 9,151 $19,570
Equity in net income of unconsolidated entities .........cocoviviiii 2,016 2,960
Gain on sale of unconsolidated entity ... — 2,291
UnCIASSIfied — MEBL ... 41 131

$11,208 $24,952

The decrease in interest income was primarily attributable to lower average cash balances due to working capital
needs and share repurchases. There was a decrease in equity in net income of unconsolidated entities in 2007
versus 2006 primarily driven by the absence of earnings related to the joint venture that was sold.

Income Taxes
Income taxes of $261.7 million in 2007 increased 19.2% as compared with $219.6 million in 2006.

Grainger's effzctive tax rates were 38.4% and 36.4% in 2007 and 20086, respectively. Excluding the equity in net
income of unconsolidated entities, the effective income tax rates were 38.5% for 2007 and 36.7% for 2006.

The 2006 tax rate benefited from resolution of uncertainties related to the audit of the 2004 tax year and from a
reduction of deferred tax liabilities related to property, buildings and equipment.

Excluding the equity in net income of unconsalidated entities and the tax benefits noted above, the effective income
tax rate for 2006 was 38.9%.

For 2008, Grainger is projecting its estimated effective tax rate to be approximately 39%, excluding the equity in net
income of unconsolidated entities.

2006 Compared to 2005

Grainger's net sales for 2006 of $5,883.7 million were up 6.5% versus 2005. There was one less selling day in 2006
versus 2005. Daily sales were up 6.9%. The increase in net sales was led by low double-digit sales growth in the
government sector, high single-digit sales growth in the manufacturing sector and mid single-digit sales growth in the
commercial sector. Also contributing to the improvement was growth from the U.S. market expansion and product line
expansion programs. Partialty offsetting these sales improvements was the negative effect of the continued wind-down
of low margin contracts with integrated supply and automotive customers,

The gross profit margin of 40.0% in 2006 improved 0.9 percentage point over the gross profit margin of 33.1% in 2005,
principally due to selling price category mix and the positive effect of product mix, including the global sourcing of
products. The major driver of the improvement in the selling price category mix was reduced sales to integrated
supply and automotive customers, which carry lower than average gross profit margins.

Grainger's operating earnings of $578.1 million in 20086 increased $59.1 million, or 11.4%, over the prior year. The
operating margin of 9.8% in 2006 improved 0.4 percentage point over 2005, as the combined effect of increased sales
and improvement in gross profit margin exceeded the increase in operating expenses. Operating expenses were up
B.1% in 2006 principally due to higher payroll and benefits driven by increased stock-based compensation expense
due to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, and increased healthcare and profit sharing costs, partially offset by lower
systems implementation costs,

In 2008, net earnings of $383.4 million increased $37.1 million, or 1G.7%, over the prior year. The growth in net
earnings was due to the improverment in operating earnings and higher net interest income, partially offset by an
increase in income tax expense. Diluted earnings per share for 2006 of $4.24 were 12.2% higher than the $3.78 for
2005, the result of higher net earmings and fewer shares outstanding.

Segment Analysis

The following comments at the segment level include external and intersegment net sales and operating earnings.
Comments at the business unit level include external and inter- and intrasegment net sales and operating earnings.
See Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

K-14




Grainger Branch-based

Net sales of $4,910.8 million increased by 5.6% in 2006 compared to net sales of $4,649.2 million in 2005. Daily sales
were up 6.0%. Daily sales in the United States were up 6.0%, with growth in all customer end markets, led by low
double-digit sales growth in the government sector and high single-digit sales growth in the heavy manufacturing
sector. The wind-down of Grainger's low margin integrated supply and automotive contracts reduced sales growth
by approximately 2 percentage points.

In 2004, Grainger launched a multiyear market expansion program to strengthen its presence in top metropolitan
markets and better position itself to serve local customers. Phases 1 through 4 include sixteen markets. Work on
Phases 5 and 6 began during 2006.

Market expansion contributed approximately 2 percentage points to the sales growth for the segment. Results for the
market expansion program were as follows:

Daily Estimated
Sales Increase Percent

2006 vs. 2005 Complete”
Phase 1 (Atlanta, Denver, Seatthe)........coc i 10% 100%
Phase 2 (Four markets in Southern Califormia) ..........ccocev v, 12% 95%
Phase 3 (Houston, St. LOUIS, TAMPAY ..o v ieeiie et ee et ae e e eeee e e s 13% 90%
Phase 4 (Baltimore, Cincinnati, Kansas City, Miami, Philadeiphia, Washington, D.C.)...... 8% 90%

*  Phases are reported once they reach 50% completion. Completion occurs when a new branch opens
or a branch expansion or remodeling is finished.

In 2006, Grainger launched a multiyear product line expansion program in the United States. The 43,000 products
added in 2006 contributed approximately 2 percentage peints to the growth in the segment.

Daily sales in Mexico increased 20.1% in 2006 versus 2005. In local currency, daily sales were up 21.0%, driven by
an improving economy, an expanded telesales operation, new branches in Santa Catarina and Chihuahua and an
expanded presence in Tijuana.

Segment gross profit margin increased 1.1 percentage points in 2006 over the comparable 2005 period, primarily
driven by positive inflation recovery and a positive change in selling price category mix. A major driver in the
improvement in selling price category mix was the reduction of sales related to low margin integrated supply and
automotive contracts.

Operating expenses were up 6.4% for 2006. The operating expense growth was primarily driven by higher payroll and
benefits costs due 10 higher stock-based compensation related to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R and higher profit
sharing costs, partially offset by lower systems implementation costs.

Operating earnings of $593.5 million for 2006 increased 13.6% over the $522.6 million for 2005. The earnings
improvement resulted from higher sales and improved gross profit margins, partially offset by operating expenses,
which grew at a faster rate than sales.

Acklands — Grainger Branch-based

Net sales at Acklands — Grainger of $5665.1 million increased by 12.6% in 2006 compared to 2005 net sates of
$502.0 million, including the effect of a favorable exchange rate. Daily sales were up 13.0%. In local currency, daily
sales increased 5.8% due to a stronger economy, improved branch presence, and higher sales to the oil and gas
sectors, partially offset by weak sales in the forestry industry.

The gross profit margin increased 0.5 percentage point in 2006 over 2005 primarily driven by positive inflation recovery.

Operating expenses for Acklands - Grainger were up 14.9% in 2006, primarily driven by payrolt and benefits due to
increased headcount and higher severance, information technology, advertising and occupancy costs.

Operating earnings of $15.2 million in 2006 increased 8.8% from the $14.0 million in 2005 as a result of sales growth
and an improved gross profit margin, partially offset by operating expenses, which grew at a faster rate than sales.

Lab Safety

Net sales at Lab Safety were $411.5 million for 20086, an increase of $31.4 millicn, or 8.3%, when compared with
$380.1 miltion for 2005. Daily sales were up 8.7%. The sales growth included the benefit of incremental sales from
Rand, acquired on January 31, 2006, and Professional Equipment and Construction Book, acquired on November 17,
2006, as well as sales growth in the manufacturing sector. Rand contributed 4.0 percentage points to the daily sales
increase. Professional Equipment and Construction Book contributed 0.6 percentage point to the daily sales increase.
Excluding Rand, Professional Equipment and Construction Book, daily sales increased 4.1%.

The gross profit margin decreased 0.3 percentage point in 2006 from 2005 primarily as a result of increased freight
costs and lower margin Rand product sales, partially offset by positive inflation recovery.
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Operating expenses of $121.8 million were $12.8 million, or 11.7%, higher in 2006, primarily due to incremental costs
associated with the acquisitions, higher advertising costs and increased expenses from the upgrade of the business’
enterprise resource planning system.

Operating earnings of $52.3 million for 2006 were down 0.8% compared to 2005, resulting from a lower gross profit
margin and higher operating expenses, partially offset by increased sales.

Other income and Expense

Other income and expense was $25.0 million of income in 2006, an improvement of $11.3 million as compared with
$13.7 million of income in 2005. The following table summarizes the components of other income and expense:

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2006 2005
{In thousands of dollars)

Other income and (expense):

Interest iNCOME (EXPENSEY — NEL ... $19,570 $11,019
Equity in net income of unconsolidated entities ........c.cooee i 2,960 2,809
Gain on sale of unconsolidated entity ...t 2,291 —
UNCIAsSIfled — NMEE ... e 131 (143)

$24,952 $13,685

The increase in interest income in 2006 was the result of higher interest rates and higher average cash balances.

Income Taxes
Income taxes of $219.6 million in 2006 increased 17.9% as compared with $186.4 million in 2005.

Grainger's effectiva tax rates were 36.4% and 35.0% in 2006 and 2005, respectively. Excluding the effect of equity in
net income of unconsolidated entities, the effective income tax rates were 36.7% for 2006 and 35.2% for 2005.

The 2006 tax rate benefited from resolution of uncertainties related to the audit of the 2004 tax year and from a
reduction of deferred tax liabilities related to property, buildings and equipment.

The 2005 tax rate included tax benefits related to a favorable revision ta the estimate of income taxes for various state
and local taxing jurisdictions and the resotution of certain federal and state tax contingencies.

Excluding the equity in net income of unconsolidated entities and the tax benefits noted above, the effective income
tax rate was 38.9% for 2006 and 37.0% for 2005.

Financial Condition

Grainger expects its strong working capital position, cash flows from operations and borrowing capacity to continue,
allowing it to fund its operations including growth initiatives, capital expenditures, acquisitions, and repurchase of
shares, as well as pay cash dividends.

Cash Flow

Net cash flows frorn operations of $468.9 million in 2007, $436.8 million in 2006 and $432.5 million in 2005 continued
to improve Grainger's financial position and serve as the primary source of funding. Net cash provided by operations
increased $32.1 million in 2007 over 2006, driven primarily by increased net earnings. The Change in operating assets
and liabilities — net of business acquisitions used cash of $106.4 million in 2007. This use of cash was primarily driven
by increases in invantory and trade accounts receivable as well as a decrease in trade accounts payable due to the
timing of payments at year-end. The increases in inventory and trade accounts receivable were due to product line
expansion and increased sales. These changes were partially offset by an increase in other current liabilities due to
higher compensation, benefit and profit sharing accruals, the result of increased headcount and improved Company
performance. The increase in net cash flows from operations from 2005 to 2006 was primarily attributable to increased
net earnings. The Change in operating assets and liabilities - net of business acquisitions used cash of $97.2 million in
2006. This use of cash was primarily driven by increases in inventory and trade accounts receivable, which were up
due to increased sales and an increase in days sales outstanding. These changes were partially offset by an increase
in tfrade accounts payable due to the higher inventory purchases.

Net cash flows used in investing activities were $197.0 million, $139.7 million and $163.0 million for 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively. Capital expenditures for property, buildings, equipment and capitalized software were $197.4
million, $136.8 million and $157.2 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Additional information regarding capital
spending is detailed in the Capital Expenditures section below. In 2007, Grainger continued to fund the Company’s
market expansicn initiative ($88 million), purchased McFeely's ($4.7 million) and purchased its distribution center in
China ($6.7 million). In 2008, Grainger also invested $13.9 million to purchase Rand and $20.5 million to purchase

K-16




Professional Equipment and Construction Book, which are part of the Lab Safety segment. The results of operations for
the acquisitions have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the respective acquisition dates.

Net cash flows used in financing activities for 2007, 2008 and 2005 were $513.9 million, $492.9 million and

$154.1 million, respectively. Treasury stock purchases increased $174.5 million in 2007, as Grainger repurchased
7,051,607 shares, compared with 6,950,900 shares in 2006. Treasury stock purchases were 2,404,400 shares in 2005.
As of December 31, 2007, approximately 4.7 million shares of common stock remained available under Grainger's
repurchase authorization. Dividends paid to shareholders were $113.1 million in 2007, $97.9 million in 2006 and

$82.7 million in 2005. Partially offsetting these cash outlays were proceeds and excess tax benefits realized from
stock options exercised of $144.2 million, $77.8 million and $66.0 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Working Capital
Internally generated funds have been the primary source of working capital and for funds used in business expansion,
supplemented by debt as circumstances dictated. In addition, funds were expended for facilities optimization and

enhancements to support growth initiatives, as well as for business and systems development and other infrastructure
improvements.

Working capital was $974.4 million at December 31, 2007, compared with $1,155.8 million at December 31, 2006, and
$1,290.2 million at December 31, 2005. At these dates, the ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 2.2, 2.6 and
2.9, respectively. The current ratio and working capital decrease in 2007 was due to the increase in short-term
borrowings and a reduction in cash primarily to fund the accelerated share repurchase program. See Note 13 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Capital Expenditures

In each of the past three years, a portion of operating cash flow has been used for additions to property, buildings,
equipment and capitalized software as summarized in the following table:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
{(In thousands of dollars)
Land, buildings, structures and improvements...........ccoocevvieeciienicns $100,380 $ 67,554 $ 52,955
Furniture, fixtures, machinery and equipment.................... 87,389 62,233 59,342
SUBLOLAL ..o e 187,769 129,787 112,297
Capitalized software..........cocoiiii 8,556 8,950 44,950
TO AL ettt e e $196,325 $138,737 $167,247

In 2007 and 2006, Grainger's investments included the market expansion program, which is designed to realign branches
in several metropolitan markets, Mexico and China expansion and the normal, recurring replacement of equipment.

In 2005, Grainger's investments included the market expansion program, ongoing SAP initiatives, expenditures related
to Canadian branch and systems projects, as well as the normai, recurring replacement of equipment.

Capital expenditures are expected to range from $175 million to $200 million in 2008. These projected investments
include the completion of the market expansion program in the United States, branch expansion in Mexico, cngoing
information technology expenditures, support for the product line expansion program, as well as other general
projects including the normal, recurring replacement of equipment. Grainger expects to fund 2008 capital investments
from operating cash flows, which Grainger believes will remain strong.

Debt

Grainger maintains a debt ratio and liquidity position that provides flexibility in funding working capital needs and long-
term cash requirements. In addition 1o internally generated funds, Grainger has various sources of financing available,
including commercial paper sales and bank borrowings under lines of credit. At December 31, 2007, Grainger's long-
term debt rating by Standard & Poor’s was AA+. Grainger's available lines of credit, as further discussed in Note 8 to
the Consclidated Financial Statements, were $250.0 million at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. Total debt as a
percent of total capitalization was 5.0%, 0.4% and 0.4% as of the same dates. The increase in total debt as a percent
of total capitalization was primarily the result of short-term borrowings used to fund an accelerated share repurchase
program. See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of Grainger’s accelerated share
repurchase program. R

Grainger believes any circumstances that would trigger early payment or acceleration with respect to any outstanding
debt securities would not have a material impact on its results of operations or financial position. Certain holders of
industrial revenue bonds have various rights to require Grainger to redeem these bonds, thus a portion is classified as
Current maturities of long-term debt.
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Commitments and Other Contractual Obligations
At December 31, 2007, Grainger's contractual obligations, including estimated paymentis due by period, are as follows:
Payments Due by Period

Total
Amounts Less than 1-3 4-5 More than
Committed 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
(In thousands of dollars)
Long-term debt obligations .......... $ 9,485 $ 459 $ 4,895 5 — $ —
Interest on long-term debt ............ 675 340 335 — —
Operating lease obligations.......... 200,400 38,578 58,295 40,222 63,305
Purchase obligations:
Uncompleted additions
to property, buitdings
and equipmert.........cooceeiveeen 48,287 48,287 . — —
Commitments tc
purchase inventory ................. 228,534 228,534 — — —
Other purchase obligations ....... 103,463 92,819 9,789 855 —_
Other liabilities ......c..ccooeevicien 113,784 6,747 13,866 16,352 76,819
Total .o $704,628 $419,895 $87,180 $57,429 $140,124

Purchase obligaticns consist primarily of inventory purchases made in the normal course of business to meet operating
needs. While purchase orders for both inventory purchases and noninventory purchases are generally cancelable without
penalty, certain vendor agreements provide for cancellation fees or penalties depending on the terms of the contract.

Payments for Other liabilities represent future benefit payments for postretirement benefit plans and postemployment
disability medical benefits as determined by actuarial projections. Other employment-related benefits costs of

$33.8 million have not been included in this table as the timing of benefit payments is not statistically predictable.
See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements,

See also Notes 10 and 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further detail related to long-term debt and
operating lease obligations, respectively.

In addition, Grainger has recorded a noncurrent liability of $14.7 million for tax uncertainties at December 31, 2007.
This amount is excluded from the table above, as Grainger cannot make reliable estimates of these cash flows by
period. See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Grainger does not have any material exposures to off-balance sheet arrangements. Grainger does not have any
variable interest entities or activities that include nonexchange-traded contracts accounted for at fair value,

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with accounting principles generaily accepted in the United
States of America, requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in the financial statements. Management bases its estimates on
historical experience and other assumptions, which it believes are reasonable. If actual amounts are ultimately
different from these estimates, the revisions are included in Grainger’s resuits of operations for the period in which the
actual amounts become known.

Accounting policies are considered critical when they require management to make assumptions about matters that
are highly uncertain at the time the estimate is made and when different estimates than those management reasonably
could have made have a material impact on the presentation of Grainger's financial condition, changes in financial
condition or results of operations.

Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements describes the significant accounting policies used in the preparation
of the Consolidated Financial Statements. The most significant areas involving management judgments and estimates
follow. Actual results in these areas could differ materially from management's estimates under different assumptions
or conditions. .

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. Grainger uses several factors to estimate the allowance for uncollectible accounts
receivable including the age of the receivables and the historical ratio of actual write-offs to the age of the receivables.
The analyses performed also take into consideration economic conditions that may have an impact on a specific
industry, group of customers or a specific customer.
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Write-offs could be materially different than the reserves provided if economic conditions change or actual results
deviate from historical trends.

Inventory Reserves. Grainger establishes inventory reserves for shrinkage and excess and obsolete inventory.
Provisions for inventory shrinkage are based on historical experience to account tor unmeasured usage or loss. Actual
inventory shrinkage could be materially different from these estimates, affecting Grainger's inventory values and cost
of merchandise sold.

Grainger regularly reviews inventory to evaluate continued demand and identify any obsolete or excess quantities of
inventory. Grainger records provisions for the difference between excess and obsolete inventary and its estimated
realizable value. Estimated realizable value is based on anticipated future product demand, market conditions and
liquidation values. Actual results differing from these projections could have a material eftect on Grainger's resuits of
operations.

Stock Incentive Plans. Grainger maintains stock incentive plans under which a variety of incentive grants may be
awarded to employees and directors. Grainger uses a binomial lattice option pricing model to estimate the value of
stock option grants. The model requires projections of the risk-free interest rate, expected life, volatility, expected
dividend yield and forfeiture rate of the stock option grants. The fair value of options granted in 2007 and 2006 used
the following assumptions:

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Risk-free interest rate ..........ccoociii 4.6% 4.9%
EXpected [ife. ... 6 years € years
Expected volatility .........ccooooeii e, 24.3% 23.9%
Expected dividend yield.............coooiiiiiee e 1.7% 1.5%

The risk-free interest rate is selected based on yields from U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term
approximately equal to the expected term of the options being valued. The expected life selected for options granted
during each year presented represents the period of time that the options are expected to be outstanding based on
historical data of option holders exercise and termination behavior. Expected volatility is based upon implied and
historical volatility of the closing price of Grainger's stock over a period equal to the expected life of each option grant.
The dividend yield assumption is based on history and expectation of dividend payouts. Because stock option
compensation expense is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures,
using historical forfeiture experience.,

The amount of stock option compensation expense is significantly affected by the valuation model and these
assumptions. If a different valuation model or different assumptions were used, the stock option compensaticn
expense could be significantly different from what is recorded in the current period.

Compensation expense for other stock-based awards is based upon the closing market price an the last trading date
preceding the date of the grant.

For additional information concerning stack incentive plans, see Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Postretirement Healthcare Benefits. Postretirement healthcare obligations and net periodic costs are dependent on
assumptions and estimates used in calculating such amounts. The assumptions used include, among others, discount
rates, assumed rates of return on plan assets and heaithcare cost trend rates. Changes in assumptions {caused by
conditions in equity markets or plan experience, for example) could have a material effect on Grainger's
postretirement benefit obligations and expense, and could affect its results of operations and financial condition.
These changes in assumptions may afso affect voluntary decisions to make additional contributions to the trust
established for funding the postretirement benefit obligation.

The discount rate assumptions used by management reflect the rates available on high-quality fixed income debt
instruments as of December 31, the measurement date, of each year. A lower discount rate increases the present
value of benefit obligations and net periodic postretirement benefit costs. As of December 31, 2007, Grainger increased
the discount rate used in the calculation of its postretirement plan obligation from 5.9% to 6.5% to reflect the increase in
market interest rates. Grainger estimates that the increase in the expected discount rate will increase 2008 pretax earnings
by approximately $2.4 million, aithough other changes in assumptions may increase, decrease or eliminate this effect.

Grainger considers the long-term histarical actual return on plan assets and the historical performance of the
Standard & Poor's 500 Index in developing its expected long-term return on plan assets. In 2007, Grainger maintained
the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets of 6.0% (net of tax at 40%) based on the historical average of
long-term rates of return.




A 1 percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects on
Cecember 31, 2007 results:

1 Percentage Point

Increase (Decrease)

{In thousands of doltars)

Effect on total of service and interest CoSt...........co $ 4652 $ (3,597)
Effect on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation............... 29,094 (23,181}

Grainger may terminate or modify the postretirement plan at any time, subject to the provisions of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) and the Internal Revenue Code, as amended. In the event the
postretirement plan is terminated, all assets of the Group Benefit Trust inure to the benefit of the participants. The
foregoing assumptions are based on the presumption that the postretirement plan will continue. Were the
postretirernent plan to terminate, different actuarial assumptions and other factors might be applicable.

Grainger has used its best judgment in making assumptions and estimates and believes such assumptions and
estimates usec are appropriate. Changes to the assumptions may be required in future years as a result of actual
experience or new trends and, therefore, may affect Grainger’s retirement plan obligations and future expense.

For additional infarmation concerning postretirement healthcare benelfits, see Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements,

insurance Reserves. Grainger retains a significant portion of the risk of certain losses related to workers’
compensation, general liability and property losses through the utilization of deductibles and self-insured retentions.
There are also certain other risk areas for which Grainger does not maintain insurance.

Grainger is responsible for establishing policies on insurance reserves. Although it relies on outside parties to project
future claims costs, it retains control over actuarial assumptions, including loss development factors and claim
payment patterns. Grainger performs ongoing reviews of its insured and uninsured risks, which it uses to establish the
appropriate reserve levels.

The use of assumptions in the analysis leads to fluctuations in required reserves over time. Any change in the required
reserve balance is reflected in the current period's resulis of operations.

Income Taxes. Grainger recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of
avents that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities,
using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The tax balances and
income tax exgense recognized by Grainger are based on management’s interpretations of the tax laws of multiple
jurisdictions. Income tax expense reflects Grainger's bast estimates and assumptions regarding, among other items,
the level of future taxable income, interpretation of tax laws and tax planning opportunities. Future rulings by tax
authorities and future changes in tax laws and their interpretation, changes in projected levels of taxable income and
future tax planning strategies could impact the actual effective tax rate and tax balances recorded by Grainger.

Other. Other significant accounting pelicies, not involving the same level of measurement uncertainties as those
discussed above, are nevertheless important to an understanding of the financial statements. Policies such as revenue
recognition, depreciation, intangibles, long-lived assets and warranties require judgments on complex matters that are
often subject to multiple external sources of authoritative guidance such as the Financial Accounting Standards Board
and the Securities and Exchange Commission. Possible changes in estimates or assumptions associated with these
policies are not expected to have a material effect on the financial condition or results of operations of Grainger. More
information on these additional accounting policies can be found in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

New Accounting Standards

The following naw accounting standards exclude those pronouncements that are unlikely to have an effect on
Grainger upon adoption.

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued interpretation No. 48, "Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes - an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting
for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a company's financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 108,
“Accounting for Income Taxes." FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial
staternent recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. It also provides
guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition.
Grainger adopted FiN 48 on January 1, 2007, and the adoption did not have a material effect on its results of
operations or financial position. See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of FIN 48,

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS No. 157). SFAS No. 157
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally accepted accounting
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principles and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS No. 157 are effective for
fiscal years beginning after Navember 15, 2007. Grainger does not expect adoption of SFAS No. 157 to have a
material effect on its results of operations or financial position,

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”
(SFAS No. 159). SFAS No. 159 provides companies with an option to report selected financial assets and labilities at
fair value. It also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements to facilitate comparisons between companies
using different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities. The statement is effective for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007. Grainger does not expect adoption of SFAS No. 159 to have a material
effect on its results of operations or financial position.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007}, “Business Combinations” {SFAS No. 141R).

SFAS No. 141R establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial
staternents the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the
goodwill acquired. SFAS No. 141R also establishes disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation of the nature and
financial effects of the business combination. The staterment is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2008, and will be applied to acquisitions after adoption by Grainger.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, "Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements —
an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51" (SFAS No. 160). SFAS No. 160 establishes accounting and
reporting standards for ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent, the amount of
consolidated net earnings attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest, changes in a parent’s ownership
interest and the valuation of retained noncontrolling equity investments when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. SFAS
No.160 also establishes disclosure requirements that clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the
parent and the interests of the noncentrolling owners. The statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008. Grainger is currently evaluating the impact that adoption of SFAS No. 160 may have on its

results of operations or financial position.

See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of new accounting standards.

Inflation and Changing Prices

Inflation during the last three years has not had a significant effect on operations. The predominant use of the last-in,
first-out {LIFO) method of accounting for inventories and accelerated depreciation methods for financial reporting and
income tax purposes result in a substantial recognition of the effects of inflation in the financial statements.

The major impact of inflation is on buildings and improvements, where the gap between historic cost and replacement
cost accumulates for these long-lived assets. The related depreciation expense associated with these assets would
likely increase if adjustments were to be made for the cumulative effect of inflation.

Grainger believes the most positive means to combat inflation and advance the interests of investors lies in the
continued application of basic business principles, which include improving productivity, increasing working capital
turnover and offering products and services which can command appropriate prices in the marketplace.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-K contains statements that are not historical in nature but concern future results and business plans,
strategies and objectives and other matters that may be deemed to be “forward-looking statements” under {ederal
securities laws. Grainger has generally identified such forward-looking statements by using words such as "believe,
expect, anticipate, continue, estimate, intend, planned, predict, projection, potential, scheduled, assumption,
presumption, may, might, would, could and will” or similar expressions.

Grainger cannat guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized although Grainger does believe that its
assumptions underlying its forward-looking statements are reasonable. Achievement of future results is subject to risks
and uncertainties which could cause Grainger's results to differ materially from those which are presented.

Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those presented or implied in a forward-looking
statement include, without limitation: higher product costs or other expenses; a major loss of cusiomers; increased
competitive pricing pressures; failure to develop or implement new technologies or business strategies; the outcome of
pending and future litigation or governmental or regulatory proceedings; changes in laws and regultations; disruption of
information technology or data security systems; general industry or market conditions; general economic conditions;
labor shortages; facilities disruptions or shutdowns; higher fuel costs or disruptions in transportaion services; natural
and other catastrophes; unanticipated weather conditions; and the factors identified in ltem 1A, Risk Factors.

Caution should be taken not to place undue reliance on Grainger's forward-looking statements and Grainger undertakes
no obligation to publicly update the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise.
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ltem 7A: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Grainger is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk related to its transactions, assets and liabilities denominated in

foreign currencies. For 2007, a uniform 10% strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to foreign currencies that affect

Grainger and its joint ventures would have resulted in a $2.1 million decrease in net earnings. Comparatively, in 2006 a

uniform 10% strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to foreign currencies that affect Grainger and its joint ventures

would have resulted in a $1.0 million decrease in net earnings. A uniform 10% weakening of the U.S. dollar would have

resulted in a $2.6 million increase in net earnings for 2007, as compared with an increase in net earnings of $1.2 million

for 2006, This sensitivity analysis of the efiects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates does not factor in

potential changes in sales levels or local currency prices or costs. Grainger does not hold derivatives for trading .
purposes. '
Grainger is also exposed to interest rate risk in its debt portfolio. During 2007 and 2006, all of its long-term debt was

variable rate cebt. A 1 percentage point increase in interest rates paid by Grainger would have resulted in a decrease

to net earnings of approximately $0.3 million for 2007 and $0.1 miflion for 2006. A 1 percentage point decrease in

interest rates would have resulted in an increase to net earnings of approximately $0.3 million for 2007 and $0.1 million

for 2006. This sensitivity analysis of the effects of changes in interest rates on fong-term debt does not factor in

potential changes in long-term debt levels.

Grainger has limited primary exposure to commodity price risk since it purchases its goods for resale and does not
purchase commodities directly.

Iltem 8: Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements and supplementary data are inciuded on pages 27 to 64. See the Index to Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data on page 26.

Item 9: Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Nane.

item 9A: Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures |

Grainger carried out an evafuation, under the supervision and with the participation of its management, including the i
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of Grainger's
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief
Executive Off cer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that Grainger's disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.

Internat Cantrol Over Financial Reporting
(A) Management's Annual Repert on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management's report on the Company's internal contrel over financial reporting is included on page 27 of this
Report under the heading Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

{B) Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

The report from Ernst & Young LLP on its audit of the effectiveness of Grainger's internal control over financial i
reporting as of December 31, 2007, is included on page 28 of this Report under the heading Report of !
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

{C) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in Grainger's internal control over financial reporting during the last fiscal quarter
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, Grainger's internal control over financial
reporting.

Item 9B: Other Information
None.

K-22




PART IHl

Item 10: Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Grainger's proxy statermnent relating to the annual
meeting of shareholders to be held April 30, 2008, under the captions “Election of Directors,” “Board of Directors and
Board Committees” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.” Information required by this item
regarding executive officers of Grainger is set forth in Part | of this report under the caption "Executive Officers.”

Grainger has adopted a code of ethics that applies to the principal executive officer, principal financial officer and
principal accounting officer. This code of ethics is incorporated into Grainger's business conduct guidelines for
directors, officers and employees. Grainger intends to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K
relating to its code of ethics by posting such information at grainger.comfinvestor. A copy of the business conduct
guidelines is also on its Web site and is avaitable in print withoui charge to any person upon request to Grainger's
Corporate Secretary. Grainger has also adopted Operating Principles for the Board of Directors, which are available
on its Web site and are available in print to any person who requests them.

Item 11: Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Grainger's proxy statement relating to the annual
meeting of shareholders to be held April 30, 2008, under the captions "Board of Directors and Board Committees,”
"Director Compensation,” “Report of the Compensation Commitiee of the Board" and "Compensation Discussion and
Analysis.”

ltem 12: Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Grainger's proxy statement relating to the annual

meeting of shareholders to be held April 30, 2008, under the captions "Ownership of Grainger Stock” and "Equity
Compensation Plans.”

item 13: Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information reguired by this item is incorporated by reference to Grainger's proxy statement relating to the annual
meeting of shareholders to be held April 30, 2008, under the captions “Election of Directors” and “Transactions with
Related Persons.”

Item 14: Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Grainger's proxy statement relating to the annual
meeting of shareholders to be held April 30, 2008, under the caption "Audit Fees and Audit Committee Pre-Approval
Policies and Procedures.”

PART IV
item 15: Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedutes
{a) 1. Financial Staterments. See Index to Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

2. Financial Statement Schedules. The schedules listed in Reg. 210.5-04 have been omitted because they
are either not applicable or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial statements or
notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

(3) (a) Restated Articles of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3{i} to Grainger's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1998.

(b) Bytaws, as amended February 21, 2007, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(b) to Grainger’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K tor the year ended December 31, 20086.

{4) instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders, Including Indentures

(a) Agreement dated as of Aprit 28, 1999, between Grainger and Fleet National Bank (formerly Bank
Boston, NA), as rights agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Grainger's Current Report
on Form 8-K dated April 28, 1999, and related letter concerning the appointment of EquiServe
Trust Company, N.A. {(now Computershare Trust Company, N.A.}, as successor rights agent,
effective August 1, 2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Grainger’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002.

(b} No instruments which define the rights of holders of Grainger's Industrial Development Revenue
Bonds are filed herewith, pursuant to the exemption contained in Regulation S-K, Item
601 (b)(4)(iii). Grainger hereby agrees to furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission,
upen request, a copy of any such instrument.
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{10} Material Contracts

(21)
(23)
(31)

Accelerated Share Repurchase Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to Grainger's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007,

Compensatory Plans or Arrangements

(i) Director Stock Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10{c) to Grainger’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006.

(i)  Office of the Chairman Incentive Plan, incorparated by reference to Appendix B of
Grainger's Proxy Statement dated March 26, 1897,

(i) 1990 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10{a) to Grainger's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008.

(iv) 2001 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10(b) to Grainger's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006.

(v) Executive Death Benefit Plan, as amended.

(vi) Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(e) to
Grainger's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1989,

{vii) 1985 Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10{d){vii} to Grainger's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1998.

(viii) Supplemental Profit Sharing Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10{viii)
to Grainger's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003.

(ix) Supplemental Profit Sharing Plan |1, as amended.

(x) Form of Change in Control Employment Agreement between Grainger and certain of its
executive officers, as amended.

{xi) Voluntary Salary and Incentive Deferral Plan, as amended.

(xii) Summary Description of Directors Compensation Program eifective January 1, 2005,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(xv) to Graihger's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2004.

(xiii) Summary Description of Directors Compensation Program effective April 30, 2008,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to Grainger's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2007.

(xiv) 2005 Incentive Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(d) to Grainger’'s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q} for the quarter ended June 30, 2006.

{xv) Form of Stock Option Award Agreement between Grainger and certain of its executive
officers, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(xiv) to Grainger's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

(xvi) Form of Stock Option and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement between Grainger and certain of
its executive officers, incorporated by reference te Exhibit 10{xv) to Grainger's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

{xvii) Form of Performance Share Award Agreement between Grainger and certain of its executive
officers, incorparated by reference to Exhibit 10{xvi}) to Grainger's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

{xviii) Summary Description of 2008 Management Incentive Program.

Subsidiaries of Grainger.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Rule 13a - 14(a)/15d - 14(a) Certifications

{a) Chief Executive Officer certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
{b) Chief Financial Officer certification pursuant tc Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Section 1350 Certifications

{a) Chief Executive Officer certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
(b) Chief Financial Officer certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of WW. Grainger, Inc. (Grainger) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate interna
control over financial reporting. Grainger’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to
Grainger's management and Board of Directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements
under all potential conditions. Therefore, effective internal control over financial reporting provides only reasonable,
and not absolute, assurance with respect to the preparation and presentation of financial statements.

Grainger's management assessed the effectiveness of Grainger’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on the framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsering Organizations of the Treadway
Commission in Internal Control - Integrated Framework. Based on its assessment under that framework and the
criteria established therein, Grainger's management concluded that Grainger’s internal control over financial reporting
was effective as of December 31, 2007.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited management's effectiveness of
Grainger’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, as stated in their report which is
included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
W.W, Grainger, Inc.

We have audited W.W. Grainger, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (the COSOQ criteria). W.W. Grainger, inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal controt over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Qur audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial staterments for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A compary's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositicns of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasconable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on
the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control gver financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pericds are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, W.W. Grainger, inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting QOversight Board {United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of W.W. Grainger, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007, 20086 and
2005, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive earnings, shareholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the pericd ended December 31, 2007 of W.W. Grainger, Inc., and our report dated
February 25, 2008, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 25, 2008
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
W.W. Grainger, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of WW. Grainger, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive earnings,
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consoclidated
financial position of W.W. Grainger, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, and the consclidated
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2007, the Company changed its
method of accounting for uncertain tax positions to conform with FIN 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes.”
As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2006, the Company changed its
method of accounting for share-based payments to conform with FASB Statement No. 123(R).

As described in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements, effective December 31, 2006, the Company
changed its method of accounting for other postretirement plans to conform with FASB Statement No. 158.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), WW. Grainger, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission and our report dated February 25, 2008 expressed an ungualified opinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 25, 2008
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W.W. Grainger, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(In thousands of dollars, except for per share amounts)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 20086
NEE SAIES ..vvivivri vt $6,418,014 $5,883,654
Cost of merchandise sold...........coco e 3,814,391 3,529,504
Gross Profit ..o 2,603,623 2,354,150
Warehousing, marketing and administrative expenses......... 1,932,970 1,776,079
Operating earniNgS.....cc..c et r s 670,653 578,071
Other income and (expense):
IMErEST INCOME ..ot 12,125 21,496
INtErest @XPANSE ..o (2,974) (1,926}
Equity in net income of unconsolidated entities ................ 2,016 2,960
Gain on sale of unconsolidated entity ................................ — 2,291
Unclassified —net .....coooveiviiiiiie e 41 131
Total other income and (XPENSE) .......ccoevivviiiv i 11,208 24,952
Earnings before INCOME taxes ........ooeeiv i, 681,861 603,023
INCOME tAXES «.ioviii ittt e st 261,741 219,624
NEE BAMMIRYS vttt ettt ee e $ 420,120 $ 383,399
Earnings per share:
BaSIC ..ot 5 5.10 $ 4.36
1T =T < OO OSSP $ 4.94 $ 4.24
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
BaSIC et 82,403,958 87,838,723
DI . e e 85,044,963 90,523,774

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

2005

$5,526,636

3,365,095

2,161,541

1,642,552

518,989

12,882
(1.863)
2,809

{143)

13,685
532,674

186,350

$ 346,324

$ 3.87

$ 3.78

89,568,746
91,588,295
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W.W. Grainger, Inc. and Subsidiaries

| CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS

' {In thousands of doilars)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
NEEEAMINGS ..o et be s cre e $420,120 $383,399 $346,324
Other comprehensive earnings (losses):
Foreign currency translation adjustments,
net of tax (expense) benefit of $(9,279),
$147 and $(1,642), respectively .....ccccccvve e 53,545 {1,181) 9,383
Defined postretirement benefit plan:
Prior service credit arising during period ..., 9,433 -— —
Amartization of pricr service credit.........coooeeieeevieeee, (437) —~— —
Amortization of transition asset...............c.cccoeeiiee (143) — —
Net gain arising during period.............cc.cooeviciinennn. 11,620 — —
Amortization of Net 108S ..o 2,094 — —
[NCOME LaX EXPENSE ..ottt (8,756) — —
13,811 — —
Gain (loss) on other employment-related benefit plans,
net of tax {expense) benefit of $(878), $(21} and
$226, respectively. ... iv e 1,384 33 {353)
68,740 {1,148} 9,030
Comprehensive earnings, net of tax..................oocccoovn e, $488,860 $382,251 $355,354

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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W.W. Grainger, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

{In thousands of doltars, except for per share amounts)

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash eqQuivalents ...........covviiiveceeee e,
Marketable securities at cost,

which approximates market value ...,
Accounts receivable (less allowances for

doubtful accounts of $25,830, $18,801

and $18,401, respectively) ...........occ e
INVENEONIES ..oiviiei ettt ee e et bt ran s
Prepaid expenses and other assets........cocvveivvieneiiee,
Deferred iINCOME LAXES . ..o e

Total current assSetS.....oooiiii e

PROPERTY, BUILDINGS AND EQUIPMENT
LANGA oo
Buildings, structures and improvements ...,
Furniture, fixtures, machinery and equipment...................

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization .............
Property, buildings and equipment —=net.........................

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES.......ccocinivririiviviiiiisi e

INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED ENTITIES ...............

GOODWILL ....cooiiii e e

OTHER ASSETS AND INTANGIBLES — NET ..o

TOTAL ASSETS ..o

As of December 31,

2007

$ 113,437
20,074
602,650

946,327
61,666

56,663

1,800,817

178,321
977.837
848,118

2,004,276

1,125,931

878,345

54,658

14,759

233,028

112,421

$3,004,028

2006

$ 348,471
12,827
566,607
827,254
58,804
48,123

1,862,086

167.218
890,380
769,506

1,827,104
1,034,169

792,935
48,793
8,492
210,671
123,111

$3,046,088

2005

$ 544,894

518,625

791,212
54,334

76,474

1,985,539

162,123
841,031

716,497

1,719,651

849,026

770,625

16,702

25,155

182,726

127,174

$3,107,921




W.W. Grainger, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS — CONTINUED

(In thousands of dollars, except for per share amounts)

As of December 31,

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 2007 2006 2005
CURRENT LIABILITIES
ShOrt-term Aebt ... e $ 102,060 3 — 3 —
Current maturities of long-term debt............ccociiiinn, 4,590 4,590 4,580
Trade accounts payable ... 287,929 334,820 319,254
Accrued compensation and benefits ... 182,275 140,141 152,543
Accrued contributions to employees’
profitsharing plans ..., 126,483 113,014 90,478
ACCIUET EXPENSES ..o ieieiiitctias e ritire et araassabraaean e 102,607 106,681 103,832
INCOME TAXES ..o 10,459 7,077 24,554
Total current liabilities ..., 826,403 706,323 695,351
LONG-TERM DEBT (less current maturities) .........ccoovvevenen. 4,895 4,895 4,895
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES AND TAX UNCERTAINTIES ........ 20,727 6,235 7,019
ACCRUED EMPLOYMENT-RELATED BENEFITS COSTS...... 143,895 151,020 111,680

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Cumulative Preferred Stock -
$5 par value - 12,000,000 shares authorized;
none issued Nor oUISEANAING ..o — — —
Common Stock — $0.50 par value -
300,000,000 shares authecrized,
issued, 109,659,219, 109,657,938 and

109,667,938 shares, respectively.....ooocooeieiiiineins 54,830 54,829 54,834
Additional contributed capital...........oociicic e 475,350 478,454 451,578
Retained @arnings ........occooveeiiiii i 3,316,875 3,007,606 2,722,103
Unearned restricted stock compensation ......o.oocevveveenns — — (17,280)
Accumulated other comprehensive earnings...........o.oeee.... 72,171 3,431 27,082

Treasury stock, at cost -
30,199,804, 25,590,311 and

19,952,297 shares, respectively..........ccccooooeviiieeeen (1,821,118) (1,366,705) (949,341)
Total shareholders’ equity ..., 2,098,108 2,177,615 2,288,976

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY ........... $3,094.028 $3,046,088 $3,107,921

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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W.W. Grainger, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

{In thousands of dollars)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
NBEBAIMINGS oot
Provision for losses on accounts receivable ....................
Deferred income taxes and tax uncertainties....................
Depreciation and amortization:

Property, buildings and equipment .........cc.cocevvviiiiininns
Capitalized software and other intangibles ...................
Stock-based compensation............cocoooeeeeei e
Tax benefit of stock incentive plans............ccccocoeevieeenn
Net gains on sales of property,
buildings and equipment ...
Income from unconsolidated entities...........ccccceevei .
Gain on sale of unconsolidated entity ........ocooviiie s
Change in operating assets and liabilities -
net of business acquisitions:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable ...............
(Increase) decrease in iNveNTOFIES ... e
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses .........c........
Increase {decrease) in trade accounts payable ..........
tncrease (decrease) in other current liabilities .............
Increase (decrease) in current income
taxes payable ...
Increase (decrease) in accrued
employment-related benefits costs ..........................
Other —net ..o

Net cash provided by operating activities ...

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Additions to property, buildings and equipment ................
Proceeds from sales of property,

buildings and equipment — nét ...,
Additions to capitalized software..............c.ocvvviee e,
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities ...................
Purchase of marketable secunties ............c.ccccceeeii.
Proceeds from sale of unconsolidated entity ...................
Net cash paid for business acquisitions...............c.cciv e
{Investments in) and loan repayment

from unconsgolidated entities. ...
Other —NEL ..o e

Net cash used in investing activities ...,

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007

$ 420,120
15,436
(18,632)

106,839
25,160
35,651

3,193

(7,254)
(2,0186)

(41,814)
(97,234)

(2,342)
(39.436)
54,457

2,304

17,705

(3.162)

468,875

(188,867)

12,084
(8,556)
12,765

(17,079)

(4,698)

{2,138)

(468)

(196,957)

2006

$ 383,399
6,057
0,858

100,975
17,593
33,741

1,563

(11,035)
(2,980)
(2.291)

(53,056)
(33,839)
(3,918)
10,888
(2,558)

(17,395)

2,634

(2,903)

436,753

(127,814)

17,314
(8,950)
(13,187}
27,843
(34,390)

(3.988)

3,426

{139,746)

2005

$ 346,324
1,326
23,663

98,087
10,695

9,015
11,982

(7,337)
(2,809)

(36,378)
(84,031)
(6,251)
27,121
43,056

(10,632)

10,012

(1,280)

432,543

(112,297)

15,037
(44,950)

(24,817)

4,088
(46)

(162,985)
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W.W. Grainger, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - CONTINUED

{(In thousands of dollars}

For the Years Ended Dacember 31,

2007 2006 2005

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net increase in COMMENCIal PAPET ....vcevirieererrcvenreieeneene, $ 95947 $ — $ —

Borrowings under line of credit............occoiiviiienen, 14,107 — —

Payments against line of credit..........cooooo {7,751) — —

Stock options exercised .......c..cooeevee i 113,500 64,437 65,997

Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation........ 30,696 13,373 —

Purchase of treasury stoCK .........ccocociiiiiiciiniie e, (647,293) (472,787} {137,473)

Cash dividends paid........cccocvrvviireirioieiee i (113,093) (97,896) (82,663)
Net cash used in financing activities ..., (613,887) (492,873) {154,139}
Exchange rate effect on cash and cash equivalents ............ 6,935 {557) 229
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE

IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ..o, (235,034) (196,423) 115,648
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year................. 348,471 544 894 429,246
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year...............cccoin, $ 113,437 $ 348,471 $ 544,894
Supplemental cash flow information:

Cash payments for interest

{net of amounts capitalized) ...........cocovvevvee e $ 4,409 $ 1413 $ 1,791

Cash payments for income taxes ... e, 244,541 212,350 162,030
Noncash investing activities:

Fair value of noncash assets

acquired in business acquisitions ... $ 5,039 $ 38,430 $ 26,811
Liabilities assumed in business acquisitions..................... (341) (4,040) (1,994)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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W.W. Grainger, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

{In thousands of dollars, except for per share amounts)

Common
Stock

Additional
Contributed
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Unearned
Restricted
Stock
Compensation

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Earnings (Losses)

Treasury
Stock

Balance at January 1, 2005.................... $54,836

Exercise of stock options
Tax benefits on stcck-based

compensation awards ........................ —
Issuance of other stock-based

compensation awards ..., —
Remeasurement of stock options

and other stock-based

compensation avards ..o, —
Canceltation of other stock-based

compensation a~vards ...........ccooeen (2}
Amortization of unearned

compensaticn on other

stock-based cornpensation awards ... —
Vesting of restricted stock ..., —
Settlement of other stock-based

compensation awards ....................... —
Purchase of 2,372,300 shares

of treasury s1oCK ..o —
Other comprehensive earnings.............. -—
NEt €aMINGS ..o vev v —
Cash dividends paid

{$0.920 per share) —

$432,171
(3,882)

11,962

12,932

303

{1,401)

$2,458,442

346,324

(82,663}

Balance at December 31, 2005 ............. $54,834

Exercise of stock options ....................... —
Tax benefits on stock-based

compensation awards .........cccoe e —
Stock oplion eXpense..........cccooeveeeneen... —
Cancellation of other stock-based

compensation awards ... (5)
Amortization of unearned

compensation on other

stock-based compensation awards ... —
Vesting of restricted stock ... —
Settlement of other stock-based

compensation awards ... —_
Purchase of 6,983,000 shares

of treasury stock ..........cceveeeeeeee —
Other comprehensive eamings.............. —
Adjustment to initially apply

SFAS No. 158 to postretirement

benefit plans, nel of

tax benefit 0i $14,280..........ocevvvvvnnn, —
Reclassification of unearned

restricted stock compensation ........... —_
Change in interest - joint venture ........... —
Net eamings ..., —
Cash dividends paid

($1.110 pershare) ..........occoeeeeeeee —

$451,578
(3,284)

14,938
19,904

5

13,845

(1,003}

(17.280)
453

$2,722,103

383,399

(97,896)

Balance at Becember 31, 2006 ............. $54,829

$478,454

$3,007.608

$(14,463)

(12,932}

(208)

1,403

8920

$ 18,052

$ (881,068)
69,879

(994)
315

{137.473)

$(17,280)

$ 27,082

(1,148)

(22,503)

$ (949,341}
68,421

(4.263)
592

(482,114)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

$(1,366,705)
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W.W. Grainger, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY — CONTINUED

(In thousands of dollars, except for per share amounts)

Balance at December 31, 2006 .............
Adoption of FIN48 ..o
Reinstatement of equity method.............
Exercise of stock options ...

Tax benefits on stock-based
compensation awards ...

Stock option expense.........c..occveeveeens
Amortization of unearned

compensation on cther

stock-based compensation awards ...
Vesting of restricted stock ..o
Settlement of other stock-based

COMPENSALoN awards ...
Purchase of 7,051,607 shares

of treasury StoCK .....ocoeviviiereecnvnenninn,
Cther compreghensive earnings..............
Net earnings ... nreeccneeenn
Cash dividends paid

($1.340 per share} ..oovveecnnvnenn

Balance at December 31, 2007 .............

Unearned Accumulated
Additional Restricted Other
Common Contributed Retained Stock Comprehensive  Treasury
Stock Capital Earnings Compensation Earnings {Losses)  Siock
$54,829 $478,454 $3,007,606 3 — $ 3431 $(1,366,705)
— — 870 — — —
— — 1,372 — — —
— {19,891) —_ — — 133,491
— 33,889 —_ — — —
— 16,888 — — — -
-— 18,667 — — — —_
_ _ — — - (1,128)
1 (2.557) — — — 1,189
— {50,000) — — — (587,967)
— — — — 68,740 —
— — 420,120 — — _
— — {113,083) —_ — —
$54,830 $475,350 $3.316,875 $ — & 72,171 $(1,821,118)

The accompanying notes are an integral pari of these financial statements.
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W.W. Grainger, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 1 - BACKGROUND AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

INDUSTRY INFORMATION
W.W. Grainger, Inc. is the leading broad-line supplier of facilities maintenance and other related products in North
America. In this report, the words “Company” or “Grainger” mean W.W. Grainger, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

PRINCIPLES CF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany transactions are eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

For investments in which the Company owns or controls from 20% to 50% of the voting shares, the equity method of
accounting is used. Changes in interest arising from the issuance of stock by an investee is accounted for as
additional contributed capital. See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

MANAGEMENT ESTIMATES

In preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities, and revenues and expenses. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The financial statements of the Company's foreign subsidiaries are measured using the local currency as the functional
currency. Net exchange gains or losses resulting from the translation of financial statements of foreign operations and
related long-term debt are recorded as a separate component of shareholders' equity. See Notes 2 and 14 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

RECLASSIFICATIONS
Certain amounts in the 2006 and 2005 financial statements, as previously reported, have been reclassified to conform
to the 2007 presentation.

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123 {revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS
No. 123R), any unearned or deferred compensation (contra-equity accounts) related to awards prior to adoption of
SFAS No. 123R shall be eliminated against the appropriate equity accounts. On January 1, 2006, at the date of
adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the Company should have recorded the balance in unearned restricted stock
compensation and all future activity against additional contributed capital. As such, the activity previously reported
in unearned restricted stock compensation for 2006 was netted against additional contributed capital. There was no
effect on sarnings, assets, liabilities or total shareholders’ equity.

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenues recognized include product sales, billings for freight and handling charges and fees earned for services
provided, The Company recognizes product sales and billings for freight and handling charges primarily on the date
products are shipped to, or picked up by, the customer. The Company’s standard shipping terms are FOB shipping
point. On occasion, the Company will negotiate FOB destination terms. These sales are recognized upon delivery to the
customer. Fee revenues, which account for less than 1% of total revenues, are recognized after services are completed.

COST OF MERCHANDISE SOLD
Cost of merchandise sold includes product and product-related costs, vendor consideration, freight-out costs and
handling costs. The Company defines handling costs as those costs incurred to fulfilt a shipped sales order.

VENDOR CONSIDERATION

The Company receives rebates from its vendors to promote their products. The Company provides numerous
advertising programs to promote its vendors' products, including catalogs and other printed media, Internet and
other marketing programs. Most of these programs relate to multiple vendors, which makes supporting the specific,
identifiable and incremental criteria difficult, and would require numerous assumptions and judgments. Based on the
inexact nature of trying to track reimbursements to the exact advertising expenditure for each vendor, the Company
treats most vendor advertising allowances as a reduction of cost of merchandise sold rather than a reduction of
operating (advertising) expenses. Rebates earned from vendors that are based on purchases are capitalized into
inventory as part of product purchase price. These rebates are credited to cost of merchandise sold based on sales.
Vendor rebates that are earned based on product sales are credited directly to cost of merchandise sold.
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ADVERTISING

Advertising costs are expensed in the year the related advertisement is first presented. Advertising expense was
$122.4 millicn, $115.4 million and $102.3 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The majority of vendor
provided allowances are classified as an offset to cost of merchandise sald. Any reimbursements from vendors that
are classified as an offset against operating (advertising} costs are recorded when the related advertising is expensed.
For additional information see subsection VENDOR CONSIDERATION.

For interim reporting purposes, advertising expense is amortized equally over each period, based on estimated
expenses for the full year. Advertising costs for media that have not been distributed by year-end are capitalized as
Prepaid expenses. Amounts included in Prepaid expenses at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were $32.1 million,
$30.2 million and $20.8 million, respectively.

WAREHOUSING, MARKETING AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Included in this category are purchasing, branch operations, information services, and marketing and selling
expenses, as well as other types of general and administrative costs.

STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123R. SFAS No. 123R requires the Company to measure all
share-based payments using a fair-value-based method and record compensation expense related to these payments
in the consolidated financial statements. The Company values stock option compensation using a binomial lattice
option-pricing model,

See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on the adoption of SFAS No. 123R and
related disclosures, including pro forma information for prior periods as if the Company had recorded share-based
compensation expense.

INCOME TAXES
Income taxes are recognized during the year in which transactions enter into the determination of financial statement
income, with deferred taxes being provided for temporary differences between financial and tax reporting.

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS {LOSSES)

The Company's Other comprehensive earnings (losses) include foreign currency translation adjustments and
unrecognized gains (losses} on postretirement and other employment-related benefit plans. See Note 14 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

CASH AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The Company considers investments in highly liquid debt instruments, purchased with an original maturity of ninety
days or less, to be cash equivalents. For cash equivalents, the carrying amount approximates fair value due to the
short maturity of these instruments.

The Company's investments in marketable securities consist of commercial paper to be held to maturity. These
investments have an original maturity date of more than 90 days. The investments are issued from high credit quality
issuers. The marketable securities are recorded at cost, which approximates fair value.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK
The Company places temporary cash investments with institutions of high credit quality and, by policy, limits the
amount of credit exposure to any one institution.

The Company has a broad customer base representing many diverse industries deoing business in all regions of the
United States as well as other areas of North America. Consequently, no significant concentration of credit risk is
considered to exist.

ALLOWANCE FCR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

The Company establishes reserves for customer accounts that are potentially uncollectible. The method used to
estimate the allowances is based on several factors including the age of the receivables and the historical ratio of
actual write-offs to the age of the receivables. These analyses also take into consideration economic conditions that
may have an impact on a specific industry, group of customers or a specific customer.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined primarily by the last-in, first-out (LIFO)
method, which accounts for approximately 73% of total inventory. For the remaining inventory, cost is determined by
the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.

PROPERTY, BUILDINGS AND EQUIPMENT

Property, buildings and equipment are valued at cost. For financial statement purposes, depreciation and amortization
are provided in amounts sufficient to relate the cost of depreciable assets to operations over their estimaied service
lives, principally on the declining-balance and sum-of-the-years-digits methods. The principal estimated usefu! lives
for determining depreciation are as follows:

Buildings, structures and iMProveMENES ..........cco it e e s 10 to 45 years
Furniture, fixtures, machinery and equipMENT..............ociiie e 310 10 years
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Improvements to leased property are amortized over the initial terms of the respective leases or the estimated service
lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter.

The Company capitalized interest costs of $1.4 million, $0.3 million and $0.3 miltion in 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

The carrying value of long-lived assets is evaluated whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of the asset may be impaired. An impairment loss is racognized when estimated undiscounted future
cash flows resulting from use of the asset, including disposition, is less than the carrying value of the asset.
Impairment is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair value.

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

Goodwill is recognized as the excess cost of an acquired entity over the net amount assigned to assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized, but rather tested for impairment on an annual basis and more often if
circumstances require. Impairment losses are recognized whenever the implied fair value of goodwill is less than its
carrying value.

The Company recognizes an acquired intangible apart from goodwill whenever the intangible arises from contractual
or other legal rights, or whenever it can be separated or divided from the acquired entity and sold, transferred,
licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or in combination with a related contract, asset or liability. Such
intangibles are amortized over their estimated useful lives unless the estimated useful life is determined to be
indefinite. Amortizable intangible assets are being amortized over useful lives of three to 17 years. Impairment losses
are recognized if the carrying amount of an intangible, subject to amortization, is not recoverable from expected future
cash flows and its carrying amount exceeds its fair value.

The Company also maintains intangible assets with indefinite lives, which are not amortized. These intangibles are
tested for impairment on an annual basis and more often if circumstances require, similar to the treatment for goodwill.
Impairment losses are recognized whenever the implied fair value of these assets is less than their carrying value.
INSURANCE RESERVES

The Company purchases insurance for catastrophic exposures and those risks required to be insured by law. it

also retains a significant portion of the risk of losses related to workers’ compensation, general liability and property.
Reserves for these potential losses are based on an external analysis of the Company's historical claims results and
other actuarial assumptions.

WARRANTY RESERVES

The Company generally warrants the products it sells against defects for one year. For a significant portion of warranty
claims, the manufacturer of the product is responsible for expenses. For warranty expenses not covered by the manu-
facturer, the Company provides a reserve for future costs based primarily on historical experience. The reserve activity
was as follows (in thousands of dollars):

As of December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Beginning DAIBNCE ..o $ 4,851 $ 3763 $ 3,428
R NS sttt (12,781} (9,579 (9.179)
PrOVISIONS ..o e e 11,572 10,467 9514
ENGing BalanCe ..o $ 3442 $ 4,651 $ 3763

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting
for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a company’s financial statements in accardance with SFAS No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes." FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. It also provides
guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and
transition. The Company adopted FIN 48 on January 1, 2007, and the adoption did not have a material effect on its
results of operations or financial position. See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion
related to FIN 48.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements” (SFAS No. 157). SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
The provisions of SFAS No. 157 are effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company does
not expect adoption of SFAS No. 157 to have a material effect on its results of operations or financial position.
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in February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”
(SFAS No. 159). SFAS No. 159 provides companies with an option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at
fair value. It also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements to facilitate comparisons between companies
using different measurement attributes for simitar types of assets and liabilities. The statement is effective for fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company does not expect adaption of SFAS No. 159 to have a material
effect on its results of operations or financial position.

in June 2007, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a consensus with respect to EITF Issue No. 06-11,
"Accounting for Income Tax Benefits of Dividends on Share-Based Payment Awards” (Issue 06-11). Under Issue
06-11, a realized income tax benefit from dividends or dividend equivalents that are charged to retained earnings
and paid to employees for equity classified nonvested equity shares, nonvested equity share units, and outstanding
equity share options should be recognized as an increase to additional paid-in capital (APIC). The amount recognized
in APIC should be included in the pool of excess tax benefits available to absorb tax deficiencies on share-based
payment awards. A tax benefit recognized from a dividend on an award that is subsequently forfeited or is no longer
expecied to vest would be reclassified from APIC to the income statement, if sufficient excess tax benefits are
available in the poal of excess tax benefits in APIC. Issue 06-11 is to be applied prospectively to the income tax
benefits of dividends on equity-classified employee share-based payment awards that are declared in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2007, with early application permitted. The Company does not expect adoption of
Issue 06-11 to have a material effect on its results of operations or financial position.

in December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), "Business Combinations" (SFAS No. 141R).

SFAS No. 141R establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial
statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the
goodwill acquired. SFAS No. 141R also establishes disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation of the nature and
financial effects of the business combination. The statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2008, and will be applied to acquisitions after adoption by the Company.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 180, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements —
an amendment of Accounting Research Builetin No. 51" (SFAS No. 160}, SFAS No. 160 establishes accounting and
reporting standards for ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent, the amount of
consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest, changes in a parent’s ownership
interest and the valuation of retained noncontrolling equity investments when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. SFAS
No.160 alsc establishes disclosure requirements that clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the
parent and the interests of the noncontrolling owners. The statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that adoption of SFAS No. 160 may have on its
results of operations or financial position.

NOTE 3 - BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

On May 31, 2007, Lab Safety Supply, Inc. (Lab Safety), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired
substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of McFeely’s Square Drive Screws (McFeely's). McFeely's
is a direct marketer of specialty fasteners, hardware and tools for the professional woodworking industry. McFeely’s
had more than $9 million in sales in 2006. The purchase price and costs of acquisition were $4.7 million in cash and
$0.3 million in assumed liabilities. The estimated goodwill recognized in the transaction amounted te $1.2 million and is
expected to be fully deductible for tax purposes.

On November 17, 2006, Lab Safety acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of
Professional Inspection Equipment, Inc. and Construction Book Express, Inc. The companies are direct marketers of
tools, instruments and reference materials to the building and home inspection markets. The companies had annual
sales in 2005 of more than $18 million. The aggregate purchase price for the two companies was $20.9 million in cash
and $1.7 million in assumed liabilities. The goodwill recognized in the transaction amounted to $18.7 million and is
expected to be fully deductible for tax purposes.

On January 31, 2006, Lab Safety acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of Rand
Materials Handling Equipment Co. (Rand). Rand is a national catalog distributor of warehouse, storage and packaging
supplies. Rand had more than $16 million in sales in 2005. The aggregate purchase price for Rand was $13.9 million
in cash and $2.3 million in assumed liabilities. The goodwill recognized in the transaction amounted to $9.9 million and
is expected to be fully deductible for tax purposes.

On January 14, 2005, Lab Safety acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of AW Direct,
Inc. (AW Direct). AW Direct, a targeted direct marketer of products to the service vehicie accessories market, had
sales of more than $28 million in 2004. The aggregate purchase price was $24.8 million in cash and $2.0 million in
assumed liabilities. Goodwill recognized in this transaction amounted to $14.0 million and is expected to be fully
deductible for tax purposes.
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The resuilts of these acquisitions are included in the Company’s consolidated results from the respective dates of
acquisition. Due to the immaterial nature of these transactions, disclosures of amounts assigned to the acquired assets
and assumed liabilities and pro forma results of operations were not considered necessary.
NOTE 4 — ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS
The following table shows the activity in the allowance for deubtful accounts (in thousands of dollars):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Balance at beginning of Period.......ccocien s $ 18,801 $ 18,401 $ 23,375
Provision for uncollectible aCCoUNtS. ..o 15,436 6,057 1,326
Write-off of uncollectible accounts, less recovernies.......coevvevieeicvenn, (8,755) (5,660) (6,380)
Foreign currency exchange impact ... 348 3 80
Balance atend of period. ... e $ 25,830 $ 18,801 $ 18,401

NOTE 5 - INVENTORIES
Inventories primarily consist of merchandise purchased for resale.

Inventories would have been $287.7 miltion, $270.0 million and $246.3 million higher than reported at December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, if the FIFO method of inventory accounting had been used for all Company
inventories. Net earnings would have increased by $10.8 million, $14.5 million and $4.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, using the FIFQO method of accounting. Inventory values using the
FIFO method of accounting approximate replacement cost.

NOTE 6 — INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
The table below summarizes the activity of these investments (in thousands of dollars):

MonotaRO MRO Korea USI-AGI
Co., Ltd. Co., Ltd. Prairies inc. Total
Balance at January 1, 2005 ..........c.ocoovvvivicience e $ 2,291 5 — $ 23,835 $ 26,126
Equity earnings .......ccocveeveines O PPN 472 — 2,337 2,808
LOBN rERAYIMIENL ..ottt ere s e — (3,708) (3,706)
Foreign currency (J0S8) QaiN .....covevvvivrvees e {329) —_ 255 (74)
Balance at December 31, 2005 ..., 2,434 — 22,721 25,155
Cash INVESIMENIS. ... 3,088 — — 3,988
EqQuity 8arnings ... 1,826 — 1,134 2,960
DHVESHIIUIE .o — — {24,967) {24,967)
Change in interest due to issuance of stock by
JOINEVENIUIE . ... 453 — — 453
Foreign currency (10Ss) gain ... {209) — 1,112 903
Balance at December 31, 2006 ............cco e, 8,492 — — 8,492
Cashinvestments. ... — 2,138 — 2,138
Equity 8arnings ....ccooceii e 1,401 615 — 2,016
Reinstatement to equity method of accounting ........... — 1,372 — 1,372
Foreign CUrrenCy Qain ..........cooovvvieiae e resiesseeeeeeeeeeenns 620 121 — 741
Balance at December 31, 2007 ......cooviiiniiiiiieeiiinn $10,513 $4,246 $ — $ 14,759
Ownership interest at December 31, 2007 ... 38% 49% 0%

The Company has investments in two Asian companies accounted for under the equity method of accounting. At
December 31, 2007, the ownership percentages of the two investments were 38% and 49%.

In 2003, the Company wrote off its investment in MRO Korea Co., Ltd. and subsequently suspended the equity method
of accounting even though the business was marginally profitable and self-funding. At that time, the market value of
the business was limited because the business had only one significant customer (the other party in the joint venture)
and the prospects for growth were dependent upon securing sufficient capital funding. In 2007, the Company and the
other business partner in the joint venture agreed to significantly change the business model and fund the expansion
of this business. The Company contributed $2.1 millicn to MRO Korea Co., Ltd., maintaining its 49% ownership, and
resumed the equity method of accounting. In conjunction with the reinstatement of the equity accounting method, a
credit was recorded to retained earnings for $1.4 million, which represents the accumulated unrecognized equity
earnings during the period the equity method was suspended and the write-down recognized in 2003.
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In the first quarter of 2006, the Company contributed $4.0 million to MonotaRO Co., Ltd., its 38% owned company
in Japan. In the fourth quarter of 2006, an initial public offering by this company resulted in a change of interest of
$0.5 million, recorded as additional contributed capital. The market value of this investment, based on the closing
stock price on February 19, 2008, was $25.8 miilion.

On February 23, 2006, Acklands — Grainger Inc. (Acklands — Grainger), the Company’s Canadian subsidiary, received
a Notice of Purchase advising Acklands — Grainger that Uni-Select Inc., a Canadian company, was exercising its
cantractual option to purchase all of Acklands — Grainger’s shares in the USI-AGI Prairies Inc. joint venture. The
transaction closed on May 31, 2008, for Canadian $30.9 million (US$27.8 million}, resulting in a US$2.3 million pre-tax
gain for the Company. The Company’s 50% ownership investment in this joint veniure was previously accounted for
under the equity method of accounting. The carrying value of this investment included US$5.1 million of allocated
goodwill. The joint venture was managed by Uni-Select.

NOTE 7 — CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE

Amortization of capitalized software is on a straight-line basis over three and five years. Amortization begins when the
software is available for its intended use. Amortization expense was $21.0 million, $13.9 million and $7.6 million for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The Company reviews the amounts capitalized for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not

be recoverable.

NOTE 8 - SHORT-TERM DEBT
The following summarizes information concerning short-term debt:
As of December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(In thousands of dollars)

Ling of Credit

Outstanding at December 31 ...t $ 6113 & — $ —
Maximum month-end balance during the year ..., $ 11,234 $ — $ —
Average amount outstanding during the Year.............ccveevvece e, $ 7,756 $ — $ —
Weighted average interest rate during the year..................... 6.48% —% —%
Weighted average interest rate at December 31 ... 6.57% —% —%
Commercial Paper
Outstanding at December 1. $ 95,947 5 — $ —
Maximum month-end balance during the year ..o, $139,104 $ — $ —
Average amount outstanding during the year..........cccceevievvveces $ 28,030 $ — $ —
Weighted average interest rate during the year.............ccee, 5.38% —% —%
Weighted average interest rate at December 31 ..., 4.30% —% —%

The Company had $31.1 million, $8.6 million and $8.6 million of uncommitted lines of credit denominated in foreign
currencies at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, At December 31, 2007, there was $6.1 million
outstanding under these lines of credit relating to Grainger China LLC. Grainger China LLC utilizes a line of credit to
meet its business expansion and operating needs.

The increase in commercial paper borrowing was primarily to fund an accelerated share repurchase program in
August 2007, Refer to Note 13 for further discussion of the Company’s share repurchase program.

The Company and its subsidiaries had committed lines of credit totaling $250.0 million at December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005, for which the Company compensated a bank through a commitment fee of 0.04% in 2007 and 2006, and
0.07% in 2005. There were no borrowings under the committed lines of credit.

The Company had $15.8 million of letters of credit at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, primarily related to the
Company's casualty insurance program. The Company also had $3.2 million, $3.3 million and $1.4 miltion at December 31,
2007, 2008 and 2005, respectively, in letters of credit to facilitate the purchase of product from foreign sources.

NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Retirement Plans

A majority of the Company’s employees are covered by a noncontributory profit sharing plan. This plan provides for
annual employer contributions generally based upon a formula related primarily to earnings before federal income
taxes, limited to 25% of the total eligible compensation paid to all eligible employees. The Company also sponsors
additional defined contribution plans, which cover most of the other employees. Provisions under all plans were
$130.2 million, $114.3 million and $92.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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Postretirement Benelfits

The Company has a postretirement healthcare benefits plan that provides coverage for a majority of its employees and
their dependents should they elect to maintain such coverage upon retirement. Covered employees become eligible
for participation when they qualify for retirement while working for the Company. Participation in the plan is voluntary
and requires participants to make contributions toward the cost of the plan, as determined by the Company.

The Company’s accumulated postretirement benefit obligation (APBQ) and net periodic benefit costs include the effect
of the federal subsidy provided by the "Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003" (the
Medicare Act). The Medicare Act provides a federal subsidy to retiree healthcare benefit plan sponsors that provide a
prescription drug benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to that provided by Medicare. As a result of the subsidy,
the APBO has been reduced by $40.4 million, $33.4 million and $30.6 million as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively. The net periodic benefits costs have been reduced by approximately $6.4 million, $5.6 million and
$4.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The net periodic benefits costs charged to operating expenses, which were valued with a measurement date of
January 1 for each year, consisted of the following components:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands of dollars)
SBIVICE COSE. vt $ 10,856 $ 9737 $ 7,577
INEErEST COSL . it 8,973 7,599 6,287
Expected return OGN @SSES ..... e {4,049) (2,790) (2,502)
Amortization of prior service credit ..o (437) (858) (858)
Amortization of transition asset ..o, {143) {143) (143)
Amortization of unrecognized I0SSES ......ccoveicviveve s, 2,094 2,903 1,923
Net periodic benefits COStS ..o iiiviiii i, $ 17,294 $ 16,448 $ 12,284

The Company has elected to amortize the amount of net unrecognized losses cver a period equal to the average
remaining service period for active plan participants expected to retire and receive benefits, or approximately
17.2 years for 2007.

Reconciliations of the beginning and ending balances of the APBG, which is calculated using a December 31
measurement date, the fair value of assets and the funded status of the benefit obligation follow:

2007 20086 2005
{In thousands of dollars)

Benefit obligation at beginning of year ...........ccccoocooiiie $155,353 $127,598 $103,381
SEMVICE COSL....iiiii it ettt 10,856 9,737 7.577
IMErESE COSE....oiiii e 8,973 7,599 6,287
Plan participants’ contributions ...........cc.voieiivii e 1,575 1,670 1,527
AITIENAMBALS ..o e e (9,433) 5,559 —
Actuarial (gain} loBS.......cocciiiiiie e (12,754) 7,359 (12,843)
Benefits paid ... (3,929) (4,277) (4.017)
Medicare Part D Subsidy received .........coooeioeieeieieeeeeeeeee 269 108 -—_

Beneiit obligation at end of year ...........c.o e 150,210 155,353 127,598

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year ...........cccoooooe . 67,486 46,503 41,706
Actual returns on plan assets........ccciiei 2915 6,192 1,515
Employer CortribUtioNS.......coocoiii e 6,385 17,398 5772
Plan participants’ contributionS ..o oo, 1,575 1,670 1,527
Benefits Paid ... e e s (3.929) (4,277} (4,017)

Fair value of ptan assets atend of year ..o, 74,432 67,486 46,503

Funded STatus. ... (76,478) (87.867) {81,095)

Unrecognized prior service credit............ocoocoevi i -— —_ (8,014)

Unrecognized transition assel.......coccvvic e — — (1,285)

Unrecognized net actuarnial I0SS.......cccovv i — — 38,065
Accrued postretirement benefits Cost.......ooov e $(76,478) $(87,867) $ (52,329}
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The amounts recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive earnings consisted of the following components:
As of December 31,

2007 2006
{In thousands of dollars}
Prior SBIVICE CIEAIL ... oo, £(10,592) $ (1,596)
TrANSHION ASSEL.....icviie e ettt et es et ee e eee e ee e eae ettt aeees (1,000} (1,143
NELIOSS ..o e ettt 25,405 38,119
TOAL. . bt $13,813 $36,380

The components of Accumulated other comprehensive earnings (AOCE) related to the postretirement benefit costs
that will be amortized into net periodic postretirement benefit cost in 2008 are as follows (in thousands of dollars):

2008
Amortization of prior service Credit. ... $(1,215)
AmOortization Of anSItion AaSSeL ... o (143)
AMOFIZAtION Of NETIOSS ....vvi it 1,477
Estimated amount amortized from AQCE into net periodic
postretirement benefit cost iN 2008 ...............ccviv v $ 118

The benefit obligation was determined by applying the terms of the plan and actuarial models. These models include
various actuarial assumptions, including discount rates, assumed rates of return on plan assets and healthcare cost
trend rates. The actuarial assumptions also anticipate future cost-sharing changes to retiree contributions that will
maintain the current cost-sharing ratio between the Company and the retirees. The Company evaluates its actuarial
assumptions on an annual basis and considers changes in these long-term factors based upon market conditions
and historical experience.

The plan amendment effective January 1, 2008 (reflected in the 2007 valuation above), changed the out-of-pocket
maximums, co-payments and coinsurance amounts for retirees. The plan amendment effective January 1, 2007
(reflected in the 2006 valuation above), changed the retiree contribution percentages for certain age groups.

The following assumptions were used to determine net periodic benefit cost at January 1:
For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
DHSCOUNE TALE ..o ettt ettt 590% 5.50% 5.75%
Expected long-term rate of return on
plan assets, net of tax at 40% .....co.oeovioieie e 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%
Initial healthcare CoStrend rate ..o 10.00% 10.00% 10.00%
Ultimate healthcare cost trend rate .........cocooeeeei e 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Year ultimate healthcare cost trend rate reached ........cccocooceviiiin, 2017 2016 2016

The following assumptions were used to determine benefit obligations at December 31;

2007 2006 2005
DISCOUNE TR . e 6.50% 5.90% 5.50%
Expected long-term rate of return on
plan assets, Net of tax at 0% ......cooee oo 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%
Initial healthcare costtrend rate ... 10.00% 10.00% 10.00%
Ultimate healthcare cost trend Fate .......coovverie e 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Year ultimate healthcare cost trend rate reached ..............occcoeiereen, 2018 2017 2016

The discount rate assumptions reflect the rates available on high-quality fixed income debt instruments. These rates
have been selected due to their similarity to the projected cash flows of the postretirement healthcare benefit plan.
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The Company reviews external data and its own historical trends for healthcare costs to determine the healthcare cost
trend rates. Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the healthcare
plans. A 1 percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects on
December 31, 2007 results:

1 Percentage Point

Increase {Decrease)
{In thousands of dollars)
Effect on total of service and interest COSt ..., $ 4,652 $ (3,597)
Eifect on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation ... 29,094 (23,181)

The Company has established a Group Benefit Trust to fund the ptan and process benefit payments. The assets of

the trust are invested entirely in funds designed to track the Standard & Poor's 500 Index (S&P 500). This investment
strategy reflects the long-term nature of the plan obligation and seeks to take advantage of the superior earnings
potential of equity securities. The Company uses the long-term historical return on the plan assets and the historical
performance of the S&P 500 to develop its expected return on plan assets. The required use of an expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets may result in recognizing income that is greater or less than the actual return on plan
assets in any given year. Over time, however, the expected long-term returns are designed to approximate the actual
long-term returns and, therefore, result in a pattern of income recognition that more closely matches the pattern of the
services provided by the employees.

The funding of the trust is an estimated amount which is intended to allow the maximum deductible contribution under
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (IRC}, as amended, and was $6.4 million, $17.4 million and $5.8 million for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. There are no minimum funding requirements and the
Company intends to follow its practice of funding the maximum deductible contribution under the IRC.

The Company forecasts the following benefit payments (which include a projection for expected future employee
service) and subsidy receipts (in thousands of dollars):

Estimated gross Estimated Medicare
benefit payments subsidy receipts

A0 TP URU PSSR $ 3,483 $ (410)

P20 01 TR TSR U P SRR PUOT VSRR 3,986 {491)

200 e e s 4,615 {586)

20T e e 5,416 (686)

20T e e e 6,322 (803)

2013 = 2017 e e s 50,995 8.572)

Executive Death Benefit Plan

The Executive Death Benefit Plan provides one of three potential benefits: a supplemental income benefit {SIB), an
executive death benefit (EDB) or a postretirement payment. The SIB provides income continuation at 50% of total
compensation, payable for ten years to the beneficiary of a participant if that participant dies while employed by the
Company. Alternatively, the EDB provides an after-tax lump sum payment of one times final total compensation to
the beneficiary of a participant who dies after retirement. In addition, a participant may elect to receive a reduced
postretirement payment instead of the EDB. Plan participation is determined by a committee of management. There
are no plan assets. Benefits are paid as they come due from the general assets of the Company.

The net periodic benefits costs charged to operating expenses, which were valued with a measurement date of
January 1 for each year, consisted of the following components:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands of dollars)
S IVICB COSE .ottt 3 298 $ 361 3 277
IMEEIEST COSE .eviiii e e e e 883 850 791
Amortization of unrecognized l0SSeS ...l 127 154 69

Net periodic benefits COSES ... $ 1308 $ 1,365 $ 1,137




Reconciliations of the beginning and ending balances of the projected benefit obligation, which is calculated using
a December 31 measurement date, the fair value of assets and the status of the benefit obligation follow:

2007 2006 2005
{In thousands of dollars)

Benefit obligation at beginning of year ... $ 14,906 $ 15,222 $ 13,921
SEIVICE COSL...oiiiii ittt 298 361 277
INtEresSt COSE. .o e 883 850 791
Actuanial {Gains) l0SS8S . ..viici e {1,972) (1,095) 562
Benefits Paid ... e — (432) (329)

Benefit obligation at end of year ..o 14,115 14,906 15,222

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year ... —_— — —
Employer ContribULioNS. ... _ 432 329
Benefits paid ..o — (432) (329)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year ..., — —_ —

Benefit obligation. ... {14,115) (14,906) (15,222)

Unrecognized net actuarial 10SSES .......occooeiieiiiiviie e - — 1,485
Accrued executive death benefits cost........ccooeiv i $(14,115) $(14,906) $(13,737)

The amounts recognized as the current and long-term portions of the benefit obligation follow:
As of December 31,

2007 2006 2005
{in thousands of dollars)
Currant HabIES ..o e $ (739) $ (454) $ (340)
Noncurrent Iabilties ... {13,376) (14,452) (13,397)
Net amounts TeCOQNIZEA ... ....coiov ittt ${(14,115) ${(14,906) $(13,737)

Net gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive earnings were gains of $1.9 miflion in 2007 and losses of
$0.2 million in 2006.

The net loss that will be amortized from Accumulated other comprehensive earnings into net periodic benefit cost in
2008 is $0.2 million.

The benefit obligation was determined by applying the terms of the plan and actuarial models. These models include
various actuarial assumptions, including discount rates, mortality and salary progression. The Company evaluates its
actuarial assumptions on an annual basis and considers changes in these leng-term factors based upon market
conditions and historical experience.

The following assumptions were used to determine benefit obligations at December 31:

2007 2006 2005
Discount rate used to determine net periodic benefit cost
(January 1 valuation) ... et 5.90% 5.50% 5.75%
Discount rate used to determine benefit abligation
(December 31 valuation) ... 6.40% 5.80% 5.50%
Compensation increase used to determine obligation and cost ........ 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%

The discount rate assumptions reflect the rates available on high-quality fixed income debt instruments. Thase rates
have been selected due io their similarity to the projected cash flows of the Executive Death Benefit Plan.

Projected future benefit payments (in thousands of dollars):

Benefit Payments

§ 739
540
589
641
698

4,657
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Deferred Compensation Plans

The Executive Deferred Compensation Plans are money purchase defined benefit plans. This benefit is reduced for
early retirement. Plan participation was limited to Company executives during the years 1984 to 1986; no new
executives have been added since that time. Participants were allowed to defer a portion of their compensation for the
years 1984 through 1990. in return, under the plan, each participant receives an individually specified benefit at age
65. There are no plan assets. Benefits are paid as they come due from the general assets of the Company.

The net periodic benefits costs charged to operating expenses, which were valued with a measurement date of
January 1 for each year, consisted of the following components:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands of dollars)
IMEEIESE COS ... viviiiiviiicii ettt s $ 568 $ 573 $ B10
Amortization of unrecognized [0$S8S ........ocoov e 59 184 108
Net periodic benefits COStS ... $ 627 $ 757 $ 718

Reconciliations of the beginning and ending balances of the projected benefit obligation, which is calculated using a
December 31 measurement date, the fair value of assets and the status of the benefit obligation follow:

2007 2006 2005
{In thousands of dollars)

Benefit obligation at beginning of year ... $ 10,945 $ 11,419 $ 11,550
INTEFESL COSL..oiiiie e 568 573 610
Actuarial (gains) I0SSES .. .cccivuiicie i (104) 129 179
Benefits PaI ..o (1,258) (1.176) (920)

Benefit obligation at end of year ..........cooovviiiiici e 10,151 10,945 11,419

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year .............cccco i, — —_ —
Emiployer contributionsS..........cooveiii e 1,258 1,176 8920
Benefits Paid ..o (1,258) {1,176) {920)

Fair value of plan assets at end Of YEAr ... v, — — —
Accrued deferred compensation COStS........covieiei i $(10,151) $ (10,945) $(11.419)

The amounts recognized as the current and long-term portions of the benefit obligation follow:
As of December 31,

2007 2006 2005
{In thousands of dollars)
CUTEN TADIHIHIES ....vvioee ettt $ (1.226) $ {1,229) $ (928)
Noncurrent liabililieS........covvree e (8,925) {9,716) (10,491)
Net amounts recognIZead ..o e $ (10,151) $ (10,945} $(11,419)

Net losses recognized in other comprehensive earnings were $0.4 million and $0.5 million in 2007 and 20086,
respectively.

The benefit obligation was determined by applying the terms of the plan and actuarial models. These models include
various actuarial assumptions, inctuding discount rates, mertality and retirement age. The Company evaluates its
actuarial assumptions on an annual basis and cansiders changes in these long-term factors based upon market
conditions and historical experience.

The following assumptions were used to determine benefit obligations at December 31;

2007 2006 2005
Discount rate used to determine net periodic benefit cost
(January 1 valuation).........ococoeiiiiiiiii e 5.50% 5.25% 5.50%
Discount rate used to determine benefit obligation
(December 31 valuation)............ceeevvee. e 570% 550% 525%
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The discount rate assumptions reflect the rates available on high-quality fixed income debt instruments. These rates
have been selected due to their similarity to the projected cash flows of the Executive Deferred Compensation Plans.

Projected future benefit payments {in thousands of dollars):
Benefit Payments

2008 . e b s $1,226
2009 . e e s 1,227
2070 e e e 1,197
2007 L e et e 1,162
20 e st 1,154
2008 w207 i e 5116

Other Employment-Related Benefit Plans

Certain of the Company's non-U.S. subsidiaries provide limited non-pension benefits to retirees in addition to
government-mandated programs. The cost of these programs is not significant to the Company. Most retirees outside
the United States are covered by government-sponsored and administered programs.

NOTE 10 - LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt consisted of the following:

As of December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands of dcliars)
Industrial development revenue and private activity bonds ............... $ 9,485 $ 9,485 $ 9485
Less current MatUrities ... e 4,590 4,590 4,590
$ 4895 $ 4,895 $ 4895

The industrial development revenue and private activity bonds include various issues that bear interest at variable
rates capped at 15%, and come due in various amounts from 2003 through 2021. At December 31, 2007, the
weighted average interest rate was 3.59%. Interest rates on some of the issues are subject to change at certain dates
in the future. The bondholders may require the Company to redeem certain bonds concurrent with a change in interest
rates and certain other bonds annually. In addition, $4.6 million of these bonds had an unsecured liquidity facility
available at December 31, 2007, for which the Company compensated a bank through a commitment fee of 0.07%.
There were no borrowings related to this facility at December 31, 2007. The Company classified $4.6 million of bonds
currently subject to redemption options in current maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

The Company's debt instruments include only standard affirmative and negative covenants that are normal in debt
instruments of similar amounts and structure. The Company’s debt instruments do not contain financial or performance
covenants restrictive to the business of the Company, reflecting its strong financial position. The Company is in
compliance with all debt covenants for the year ended December 31, 2007.

NOTE 11 - LEASES

The Company leases certain land, buildings and equipment under noncancellable operating leases that expire at
various dates through 2036. The Company capitalizes all significant leases that qualify for capitalization, of which there
were none at December 31, 2007. Many of the building leases obligate the Company to pay real estate taxes,
insurance and certain maintenance costs, and contain multiple renewal provisions, exercisable at the Company's
option. Leases that contain predetermined fixed escalations of the minimum rentals are recognized in rental expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Cash or rent abatements received upen entering into certain operating
leases are also recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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At December 31, 2007, the approximate future minimum lease payments for all operating leases were as follows (in
thousands of dollars):

Future Minimum

Lease Payments

008 . e a1 $ 38,578
200 ettt s 32,618
000 ettt s 25,677
2T e e e ettt et e e et 21,497
2T e e ettt ettt et a e e e ens 18,725
TREMEAMEI . ..o et 63,305
Total minimum payments reQUITE. ..ot $200,400
Less amounts representing sublease iNCOME ... {203)

$200,197

Rent expense, including items under lease and iterns rented on a month-to-menth basis, was $42.1 million, $33.4
million and $28.6 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These amounts are net of sublease income of $0.5
million, $0.5 million and $0.4 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

NOTE 12 - STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS

The Company maintains stock incentive plans under which the Company may grant a variety of incentive awards to
employees and directors. Shares of common stock were authorized for issuance under the plans in connection with
awards of non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units and other
stock-based awards. As of December 31, 2007, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares, stock
units and non-qualified stock options have been granted.

In 2005, the shareholders of the Company approved the 2005 Incentive Plan ("Plan”), which replaced all prior active
plans (“Prior Plans"). Awards previously granted under Prior Pians will remain outstanding in accordance with their
terms but no new awards are allowed. The Plan authorizes the granting of options to purchase shares at a price of not
less than 100% of the closing market price on the last trading day preceding the date of grant. All options expire no
later than ten years after the date of grant. A total of 9.5 million shares of common stock have been reserved for
issuance under the Plan. As of December 31, 2007, there were 4,418,226 shares available for grant under the Plan.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board's Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123 (revised 2004), "Share-Basad Payment” (SFAS No. 123R), using the modified
prospective method. Under this transition method, compensation cost recognized in 2007 and 2006 includes: (a)
compensation costs for all share-based payments granted prior to, but not fully vested as of January 1, 2006, based
on the grant date fair value as calculated under the pro forma disclosure-only expense provisions of SFAS No. 123 and
{b) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on the grant date
fair value estimated in accordance with provisions of SFAS No. 123R. The results for prior periods have not been
restated.

Pre-tax stock-based compensation expense was $35.7 million, $34.8 million, and $10.4 million in 2007, 2006 and
2005, respeciively. Related income tax benefits recognized in earnings were $11.8 million, $11.8 million and $3.9
million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Options
in 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company provided broad-based stock option grants covering 162,100, 187,900 and

231,500 shares, respectively, to those employees who reached major service milestones and were not participants in
other stock option programs.

In 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company issued stock option grants to employees as part of their incentive
compensation. Stock option grants were 578,120, 1,234,400 and 1,183,650 for the years 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.

Option awards are granted with an exercise price equal to the closing market price of the Company’s stock on the last

trading day preceding the date of grant. The options generally vest over three years, although accelerated vesting is
provided in certain circumstances. Awards generally expire ten years from the grant date.
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Transactions involving stock options are summarized as follows:

Weighted
Shares Average
Subject to Price Per Options
Option Share Exercisable
QOutstanding at January 1, 2005 ..ot 9,205,794 $46.86 4,415,343
GRAMBO ...t e 1,415,150 $54.20
EXEICISEU. ..ottt et et et s ettt (1,550,316) $44.51
Canceled or expired............... s s (378,788) $48.98
QOutstanding at December 31,2005, ...l 8,691,840 $48.37 4,572,250
LCTr=Ta10=1 IRUR OO OO U URR TR 1,422,300 $75.87
EXEICISEU. ..ot oottt et e ee e {1,390,461) $46.35
Canceled or @XPIred.........ccoovvoveeiereeeee e, {268,810) $57.88
Outstanding at December 31, 2006..........c.oovevveien i 8,454 869 $53.00 4,627,248
GRAMEA ...ttt 740,220 $82.21
EXEICISEU oot e (2,430,523) $47.74
Canceled Or 8XPIrS..........cocieieieis st (236,580) $67.29
Qutstanding at December 31, 2007 ..o i 6,527,986 $58.19 3,447 856

At December 31, 2007, there was $16.4 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested
option awards, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted average period of 1.6 years.

The following table summarizes information about stock options exercised {in thousands of dollars).
For the years ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Fair value of options exercised ..........c.cccooiiiviciiin e $ 31,736 $ 18,152 $ 20,668
Total intrinsic value of options exercised.........cocooeeiiiicicceee e, 88,921 38,906 31,577
Fair value of options vested ..., 15,996 15,295 25574
Settlements of options exercised ... 113,752 64,437 65,997
Information about stock options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2007, is as follows:
Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average Weighted Average
Range of Remaining Intrinsic Remaining Intrinsic
Exercise . Contractual  Exercise  Value Contractual Exercise  Value
Prices Number Lite Price (000's) Number Life Price (000's)

$30.88-%$44.25 1,025630 2.87 Years $41.00 §% 47,711 1,025,630 2.87 Years $41.00 § 47,711
$4550-8$54.85 3,321,461 5.56 Years $51.42 119,905 2,395,576 4.88 Years $51.08 87.285
$55.20-%70.95 216,400 7.13 Years $61.99 5,526 12,600 7.01 Years $61.13 333
$71.21 -%93.05 1,964,495 B.65 Years $78.18 18,356 14,050 8.32 Years $75.13 174

6,527,986 6.12 Years $58.19 $191,498 3,447,856 4.31 Years $48.22  $135,503

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted a binomial lattice model {or the valuation of stock options. The
weighted average fair value of options granted in 2007 and 2006 was §22.92 and $18.91, respectively. The fair value
of each option granted in 2007 and 2006 used the following assumptions:

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Risk-free iNterest rate............cooooiie e e 4.6% 4.9%
PO e .t 6 years 6 years
Expected volatility ... 24.3% 23.9%
Expected dividend yield............ccccoiiriiicc 1.7% 1.5%
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The weighted average fair value of the stock options granted during 2005 was $13.36, based on a Black-Scholes
valuation model. The fair value of each option estimated on the date of grant used the following assumptions:

Year Ended

December 31, 2005
RiSK-fre® iNtErest FAIE...c.vvie ettt 41%
EXPectad @, ..o 7 years
Expected volatility ... ..coooei 20.1%
Expected dividend yield..........ooooi i 1.8%

The risk-free interest rate is selected based on yields from U.S. Treasury zero-coupaon issues with a remaining term
approximately equal to the expected term of the options being valued. The expected life selected for options granted
during each year presented represents the period of time that the options are expected to be outstanding based on
historical data of option holder exercise and termination behavior. Expected volatility is based upon implied and
historical volatility of the closing price of the Company’s stock over a period equal to the expected life of each option
grant. Historical company information is also the primary basis for selection of expected dividend yield assumptions.

Performance Shares

In 2007 and 2006, the Company awarded performance-based shares 1o certain executives. Receipt of Company
stock is contingent upon the Company meeting sales growth and return on invested capital (ROIC) performance
goals. Each participant was granted a base number of shares. At the end of the first year performance period, the
number of shares granted will be increased, decreased or remain the same based upon actual Company-wide sates
growth versus target sales growth. The shares, as determined at the end of the performance year, will be issued at
the end of the third year if the Company's average target ROIC is achieved during the vesting period.

Perfarmance share value is based upon closing market prices on the last trading day preceding the date of award
and is charged to earnings on a straight-line basis over the three year period. Holders of performance shares are
entitled to receive cash payments equivalent to cash dividends after the end of the first year performance period.
Iif the performance shares vest, they will be settled by the issuance of Company common stock in exchange for the
performance shares on a one-for-cne basis.

The following table summarizes the transactions involving performance-based share awards:

2007 2006
Beginning nonvested shares owtstanding ..o 37,812 —
ISBUBINCES ©ooiitittie i ittt et er e et a s st e ot e e e et e e e et s e e 83,089 37,812
CANCEIALONS 1.t vevr vt tei ettt et st e b e e et et e et e et e e e e ekt e et er ettt {4,105) —
Ending nonvested shares outstanding ... 116,796 37.812
Weighted average per share value of iSSUANCES ......ccocvviiiiininis e, $ 6864 $ 7123

At December 31, 2007, the unearned compensation related to performance-based share awards outstanding was
$4.2 million, which the Company expects to recagnize over a weighted average period of 1.7 years.

Restricted Stock

The plans authorize the granting of restricted stock, which is held by the Company pursuant to the terms and
conditions retated to the applicable grants. Except for the right of disposal, holders of restricted stock have full
shareholders' rights during the period of restriction, including voting rights and the right to receive dividends.
Restricted stack grants have original vesting periods of six to ten years.

Compensation expense related to restricted stock awards is based upon the closing market price on the last trading

day preceding the date of grant and is charged to earnings on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The
following table summarizes the transactions involving restricted stock granted to employees:

2007 2006 2005
Beginning nonvested shares outstanding.........cococci, 105,000 270,000 322,000
CaNCRIIALIONS ....v ettt ettt — (10,000} (5,000)
ALY (LT« TR PO SO UOT OO PO PO TP PSSP POTO TR {40,000) {155,000) {47,000
Ending nonvested shares outstanding........coooveniiisicie 65,000 105,000 270,000
Fair value of Shares VESIE .......c.cciev i e $3.0 million  $11.1 million $3.0 million

At December 31, 2007, there was $0.5 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested
restricted stock, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted average period of 1.5 years.
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Restricted Stock Units (RSUSs)

Awards of RSUs are provided for under the stock compensation plans. RSUs granted vest over periods from three to
seven years from issuance, although accelerated vesting is provided in certain instances. Holders of RSUs are entitled
to receive cash payments equivalent to cash dividends and other distributions paid with respect to common stock.

At various times after vesting, RSUs will be settled by the issuance of stock evidencing the conversion of the RSUs into
shares of the Company common stock on a one-for-one basis. Compensation expense related to RSUs is based upon
the closing market prices on the last trading day preceding the date of award and is charged to earnings on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period.

The following table summarizes RSUs activity:

2007 2006 2005
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Shares Average Shares Average Shares Average
Beginning nonvested units....... 740,200 $65.24 517,000 $49.74 369,800 $47.70
ISSUANCES .oveeie e 421,003 $83.53 408,300 $75.54 239,675 $53.96
Cancellations........c..ccevvreennnnn, {74,030) $71.99 (26,750) $66.84 {22,375) $52.25
Vestings ..o (104,605) $75.85 (158,350) $58.68 {70,100) $52.54
Ending nonvested units............ 982,568 $72.91 740,200 $65.24 517,000 $49.74
Fair value of shares vested ...... $7.5 million $8.4 million $3.7 million

At December 31, 2007, there was $38.7 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested RSUs,
which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted average period of 3.4 years.

Director Stock Awards

The Company provides members of the Board of Directors with deferred stock unit grants. A stock unit is the economic
equivalent of a share of common stock. The number of units covered by each grant is equal to $60,000 divided by the
fair market value of a share of common stock at the time of the grant, rounded up to the next ten-unit increment. The
Company also awards stock units in connection with elective deferrals of director fees and dividend equivalents on
existing stock units. Deferred fees and dividend equivalents on existing stock units are converted into stock units on
the basis of the market value of the stock at the relevant times. Payment of the value of stock units is scheduled to be
made after termination of service as a director. As of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, there were eleven, eleven
and ten nonemployee directors who held stock units.

The Company recognizes income {expense) for the change in value of equivalent stock units, The following table
summarizes activity for stock units related to deferred director fees (dollars in thousands):

2007 2006 2005
Units Dollars Units Dollars Units Dollars
Beginning balance..............c..c... 61,242 § 4,283 51077 §% 3,696 39,398 % 2,625
Dividends....cccocoeoievieii, 1,099 95 902 64 722 45
Deferred fees ..........cccveev e, 12,181 1,012 14,844 1,128 15,038 856
Retirement distributions ............... — — {6,481) (461) {3,182) (198)
Unit appreciation {depreciation)..... — 1,132 — (144) — 368
Ending balance.............ccocoeevienn. 74522 % 6,522 61,242 § 4,283 51,977 % 3,696

APB No. 25 Pro Forma Disclosure

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company applied Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees” (APB No. 25), and related interpretations in accounting for its stock-based compensation plans.
Under APE No. 25, no compensation expense was recognized for non-qualified stock option awards as the exercise
price of the awards on the date of grant was equal to the current market price of the Company’s stock. The Company
also provided the disclosure-only pro forma expense provision of SFAS No. 123 in its footnotes.
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For the year ended December 31, 2005, the following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share
if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based compensation. For
the purposes of this pro forma disclosure, the value of options was estimated using a Black-Scholes option-pricing
model.
For the Year Ended
December 31, 2005

{In thousands of dollars,
except for per share amounts)

Net earnings, as rePOMeU ..ot $346,324
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under

the fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax.........cooceenic (16,733)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation cost, net of related tax, included in

net earnings, as rEPOMEH ... e 6,644
Net earnings, Pro fOrmMa. .. ... $336,235

Earnings per share:

BASIC — @S rEPOMEA. ....iviiriiviiiiierei e e $ 387
BASIC — 10 FOMMIB....cuviriet e et e $§ 375
Diluted = 88 reROMEd ... e $ 378
DiIluted ~ PrO fOTMEA .o s $ 365

NOTE 13 - CAPITAL STOCK

The Company had no shares of preferred stock outstanding as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. The activity of
outstanding common stock and common stock held in treasury was as follows:

2007 2006 2005
OQutstanding QOutstanding Outstanding
Common Treasury Common Treasury Common Treasury
Stock Stock Stock Stock Stock Stock

Balance at beginning of period ... 84,067,627 25,590,311 89715641 19,952,297 90,597,427 19,075,511
Exercise of stock options,

net of 3,318, 0 and

47 057 shares swapped

in stock-for-stock exchange....... 2,427,205 (2,427,205) 1,390,461 (1,390,461) 1,503,259 (1,503,259)
Cancellation of shares related

to tax withholdings on restricted

SOCK VESHING ....ovvvveee e, (14,867) 14,867 (59,297) 59,297 (15,493) 15,493
Settlement of restricted

stock units, net of 16,739, 6,228

and 3,017 shares retained,

respectively. ..o 31,057 {(29,776) 13,822 (13,822) 7.748 (7,748)
Cancellation of

restricted shares .......cc.oovevvveeee —_ — {(10,000) — {5,000} —
Purchase of treasury shares ......... (7.051,607) 7,051,607 (6,983,000)0 6983000 (2,372300) 2,372,300
Balance at end of period .............. 79,459,415 30,199,804 84,067,627 25590,311 89,715641 19,952,297

On August 17, 2007, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the restoration of the share repurchase program to 10
million shares. The program, which has no stated expiration date, replaced the existing 10 million share program that was
authorized in Qctober 2008, A total of 4,010,200 shares had been acquired under the prior program.

On August 20, 2007, the Company entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement (ASR) with Goldman, Sachs &
Co. (Goldman) to purchase $500 million of its outstanding common stock. The Company paid Goldman $500 million on
August 23, 2007, in exchange for an initial delivery of 5,316,007 shares. The ASR was treated as an equity transaction. At
settlement, the Company was to receive or pay additional shares of its common stock or cash (at Grainger's option), based
upon the volume weighted average price during the term of the agreement. The ASR was completed on January 4, 2008.
See Note 22 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion related to the ASR.
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NOTE 14 - ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS

The following table sets forth the components of Accumulated other comprehensive earnings (losses), (in thousands of
dollars):

As of December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Foreign currency translation adjustmentis ..., $94,683 $31.859 $33,188
Effect of adopting SFAS No. 158 related to postretirement benefit

plans and other employment-related benefit plans .................c....... — (36,783) —
Postretirement benefit plan

Prior service credit ..o 10,592 — —

TraNSIION ASSBL....coviveiiiie i 1,000 — —

Unrecognized (IOSSES) ... (25,405) — —
Unrecognized gains (losses) on other employment-related

DENEfit PIANS.......co e 1,335 (524) (579)
Deferred tax (liability) @SSt.......oc v {10,034) 8,879 {5,527)
Total accumulated other comprehensive €arnings .........cooveeereceenn $72171 $ 3431 $27,082

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, "Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132R” (SFAS No. 158). SFAS No. 158
requires an employer to recognize in its statement of financial position an asset for a plan's overfunded status or a liability
for a plan’s underfunded status, measure a plan’s assets and its obligations that determine its funded status as of the end
of the employer’s fiscal year (with limited exceptions), and recognize changes in the funded status of a defined benefit
postretirement plan in the year in which the changes occur. SFAS No. 158 requires funded status changes of a defined
benefit postretirernent plan within accumulated other comprehensive earnings, net of tax, to the extent such changes are
not recognized in earnings as components of net periodic benefit costs. The Company adopted SFAS No. 158 during the
fourth quarier of 2008. As a result of the adoption, Grainger recorded an additional liability of $36.8 miliion 1o Accrued
employment-related benefit costs offset by $14.3 million of deferred income taxes and a reduction of Accumulated other
comprehensive earnings.

Foreign currency translation adjustments result from the translation of assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries and are
accumulated in this section of Shareholders' Equity. The increase in foreign currency translation adjustments in 2007 is
primarily due to the weakening of the U.S. dollar versus the Canadian dollar.

NOTE 15 - INCOME TAXES

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that
have been included in the financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, using
enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse.

Income tax expense consisted of (in thousands of dollars):
For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Current provision:

Faderal ... e $238,220 $172,961 $134,194

AL oottt ettt 42,401 31,725 27,517

FQIBIGN oo et 15,329 5,080 976

TOWAI CUITEME. ...ttt ettt ettt 295,950 209,766 162,687
Deferred tax provision (benefit):

Federal ... e {28,520) 8,996 17,575

SAIE L (5,013) 1,636 3,298

FOTEIGN Lot r sttt e nan e (676) {774) 2,790

Total deferrad .. ..ot (34,209 9,858 23,663
TOUA! PrOVISION. ... .eiicee et e b s st s e e rbeareaaa $261,741 $219,624 $186,350
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Earnings before income taxes by geographical area consisted of the following (in thousands of dollars):
For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 20086 2005
R T = L= RO U PSP U PR $646,762 $588,322 $518,038
O 12T 1o |- VRTUTTOTTTTEUT RO SO P PP TPPPRPRTN 38,766 12,387 9,702
OHNET COUNIIIES ..o ettt e e e oo ettt e e s e {3,667) 2,314 4,934
$681,861 $603,023 $532,674

The income tax effects of temporary differences that gave rise to the net deferred tax asset were (in thousands of dollars):
As of December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Deferred tax assets;
IIVEIEOTY ..o ettt et $ 19,577 $ 13,809 $ 28,817
AGCTUBH BXPEINSES ..ottt et e e 30,295 28,606 30,463
Accrued employment-related benefits..............o 111,147 99,006 71,446
Foreign operating loss carryforwards ... 10,239 9,530 9,272
Property, buildings and equipment ... 3,189 — —
(@57 SRR TR U U SRS PP UOPT 8,064 ia_z 7,364
Deferred tax 8SEES ... v e 182,511 159,533 147,362
Less valuation allOWaNTE ... ...ociiiiivirirrr e (13,551) {13,461) (10,872)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance...........cccevveeiene $168,960 $146,072 $136,490
Deferred tax liabilities:
Purchased tax benefitS.........ccovveir e § (6,779) 3 (7.715) 3 (8,965)
Property, buildings and eqQUIRMENT ... — (4,303) (17,423)
IMANGIDIES ..ot {16,884) {14,182) {(10,219)
Lol 111 L1 < TYVUTRTU TR TR UT U UETT O o U RO PRSP (8,710 (10,627) (7,177)
PrEPAITS ..eivvvivie et ib s e s {16,625) (14,111) (1,950
FOreign CUIMBNGCY QAN ....ovvee i {13,661} {4,453) {4,599)
Deferrad tax HabiltiEs......coov oo e (63,659) (55,391} (50,333)
Net deferred taxX ASSEE .. uiiiiieiieier e eeeee it s e aeree e b ae s $105,301 $ 90,681 $ 86,157
The net deferred tax asset is classified as follows:
CUMMENT ASSELS .. eoeieieiieiie ittt iee e eetee et e e et ee e e e e e rbre e e e s $ 56,663 $ 48,123 $ 76,474
INONCUITENE GSSEIS oo ittt e e 54,658 48,793 16,702
Noncurrent liabilities (foreign} ......covor v (6,020} (6,235) (7,019
Net deferred 1ax @SSeT... ..ot $105,301 $ 90,681 $ 86,157

At December 31, 2007, the Company had $32.3 million of foreign operating loss carryforwards related to foreign
operations, some of which begin to expire in 2008. The valuation allowance represents a provision for uncertainty as to
the realization of the tax benefits of these carryforwards. In addition, the Company recorded a valuation allowance to
reflect the estimated amount of deferred tax assets that may not be reatized.

The changes in the valuation allowance were as follows (in thousands of dollars):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Beginning balance ... $ 13,461 $ 10,872 $ 10,265
Increase {decrease) related to foreign net operating
1085 CarrYIOrWAIOS ... e e e 1,329 (70) 607
(Decrease) increase related to capital losses and other ................... (1,239) 2,659 —
Ending DAlANGCE ...oocriiiie i $ 13,551 3 13,461 $ 10,872
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A reconciliation of income tax expense with federal income taxes at the statutory rate follows (in thousands of dollars):
For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Federal income tax at the 35% statutory rate.........coovvvveerioeeeee e $238,651 $211,058 $186,436
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit ..ol 24,302 22,795 20,030
Resolution of prior year tax contingencCies.......ccov e — (12,200) {9,700)
OFRBE = NBL...o ittt e (1.212) (2,029) (10,4186)
INCOME {aX BXPEMSE ..ot iieeceeiie et e es et et s cee e aeees $261,741 $219,624 $186,350
Effective tax rate ..o 38.4% 36.4% 35.0%

Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries at December 31, 2007, amounted to $10.5 million. No provision for
deferred U.S. income taxes has been made for these subsidiaries because the Company intends to permanently
reinvest such earnings in those foreign operations. Additionally, if such earnings were repatriated, .S, taxes payable
would be substantially eliminated by available tax credits arising from taxes paid outside of the United States.

On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48, As a result, the Company recognized a decrease
of approximately $0.9 million in the liability for tax uncertainties, which resulted in an increase to the January 1, 2007,
balance of Retained earnings.

The changes in the liability for tax uncertainties, excluding interest and penalties, are as follows (in thousands of

dollars):

2007
Balance at BegiNnINgG Of YBAT ..ottt bttt $15,274
Additions based on tax positions related to the CUrent Year.............cc.ovviveivvecn e 3,060
Reductions for tax pOSIIONS Of PriOr YEAIS .....cciiviiii et b e {(4.729)
Settlements (audit payments) refunds — NEt ... e (37)
BalanCe @l BN OF YA ......o.oceii ettt ettt et $13,568

The Company classifies the liability for tax uncertainties in Deferred income taxes and tax uncertainties. Included in
this amount is $3.3 million of tax positions for which the ultimate deductibility is highly certain but for which there is
uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility. Any changes in the timing of deductibility of these iters would not
affect the annual effective tax rate but would accelerate the payment of cash to the taxing authority to an earlier period.

The Company regularly undergoes examination of its federal income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS).
The Company and the IRS have settled tax years through 2004. The Company is not currently under examination by
the IRS nor under notice of pending examination. The Company is also subject to state and local income tax audits
and foreign jurisdiction tax audits. The Company's tax years 2002 - 2007 remain subject to state, local and foreign
audits. The Company does not not expect any material changes to the estimated amount of liability associated with its
uncertain tax positions within the next twelve months.

The Company recognizes interest expense and penalties in the provision for income {axes. The current year provision
includes $0.7 million for interest and penalties. The Company accrued $1.1 million for interest and penalties at
December 31, 2007,
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NOTE 16 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. Diluted
earnings per share is based on the combination of weighted average number of shares cutstanding and dilutive
potential shares. The Company had additional outstanding stock options of 0.01 million, 1.36 million and 0.04 million
for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, that were excluded from the computation of
diluted earnings per share because the options’ exercise price was greater than the average market price of the
common stock.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

(In thousands, except
for per share amounts)

NEE BAIMINGS ..o ottt ettt et $420,120 $383,399 $346,324
Denominator for basic earnings per share - —_— _— —_—

weighted average shares.........coceev e, 82,404 87,839 89,569
Effect of dilutive securities — stock-based compensation.................. 2,641 2,685 2,019
Denominator for diluted earnings per share -

weighted average shares adjusted for dilutive securities................ 85,045 90,524 91,588
Basic earnings per COMMON ShArE ..ot $ 510 $ 436 3 387
Diluted earnings per Common Share...........cocoeivien e $ 4094 $ 424 $ 378

NOTE 17 - PREFERRED SHARE PURCHASE RIGHTS

The Company has a shareholder rights plan, under which there is outstanding ane preferred share purchase right
(Right) for each outstanding share of the Company's common stock. Each Right, under certain circumstances,

may be exercised to purchase one one-hundredth of a share of Series A-1999 Junior Participating Preferred Stock
{(intended to be the economic equivalent of one share of the Company's common stock) at a price of $250.00, subject
to adjustment. The Rights become exercisable only after a persan or group, other than a person or group exempt
under the plan, acquires or announces a tender offer for 15% or more of the Company’s common stock. If a person or
group, other than a person or group exempt under the plan, acquires 15% or more of the Company's common stock
or if the Company is acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction, each Right generally entitles the
holder, other than such person or group, to purchase, at the then-current exercise price, stock and/or ather securities
or assets of the Company or the acquiring company having a market value of twice the exercise price.

The Rights expire on May 15, 2009, unless earlier redeemed. They generally are redeemable at $.001 per Right until
thirty days following announcement that a persen or group, other than a person or group exempt under the plan, has
acquired 15% or more of the Company's common stock. The Rights do not have voting or dividend rights and, until
they become exercisable, have no dilutive effect on the earnings of the Company.
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NOTE 18 — SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company has three reportable segments: Grainger Branch-based, Acklands - Grainger Branch-based and Lab
Satety. Grainger Branch-based is an aggregation of the following business units: Grainger Industrial Supply, Grainger,
S.A. de C.V. (Mexico), Grainger Caribe Inc. (Puerto Rico) and Grainger China LLC (China). Acklands - Grainger is the
Company's Canadian branch-based distribution business. Lab Safety is a direct marketer of safety and other industrial
products,

The Company's branch-based segments offer similar services and products while the Lab Safety segment offers
differing ranges of services and products and requires different resources and marketing strategies. The accounting
policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies.
intersegment transfer prices are established at external selling prices, less costs not incurred due to a related

party sale.

The following is the segment information (in thousands of doliars):

2007
Grainger Acklands - Grainger Lab
Branch-based Branch-based Safety Total
Total Net SalES.....c.ooooveeee e, $5,352,520 $636,524 $434,663 $6,423,707
intersegment netsales.................n, (1,997) — {3,696) (5,693)
Net sales to external customers........................ 5,350,523 636,524 430,967 6,418,014
Segment operating earnings.........coccocoeeeeeee 669,441 44,218 54,287 767,946
Segment assets. ..o, 2,107,408 502,414 212,627 2,822,449
Depreciation and amortization.......................... 100,082 10,786 9,126 119,994
Additions to long-lived assets ...............c........... $ 155936 $ 10,794 $ 7.844 $ 174574
2006
Grainger Acklands — Grainger Lab
Branch-based Branch-based Safety Total
Total Net SalES ..o $4,910,836 $565,098 $411,511 $5,887,445
Intersegmentnet sales.................coccee e (1,214) — (2.577) {3,791}
Net sales to external customers........................ 4,909,622 565,098 408,934 5,883,654
Segment operating earnings...........ccoeeeoes 593,455 15,242 52,283 660,980
Segment assets.....o.oviiiiii 1,838,270 394,707 215,515 2,548,492
Depreciation and amortization .......................... 88,753 9,505 8,099 106,357
Additions to long-lived assets ...........cc.c.coo.e $ 112,414 $ 8,238 $ 37,733 $ 158,385
2005
Grainger Acklands - Grainger Lab
Branch-based Branch-based Safety Total
Total net Sales ..o $4,649,200 $502,021 $380,091 $5,531,312
Intersegment net sales.........oooooeei {2,125) — {2,551) (4,676)
Net sales to external customers....................... 4,647,075 502,021 377,540 5,526,636
Segment operating eamings.............ccooeevieeinn, 522,635 14,003 52,712 589,350
Segment asselS. ..., 1,821,897 389,855 175,201 2,386,953
Depreciation and amortization ..................c....... 80,994 7,638 7,756 96,388
Additions to long-lived assets........................... $ 129,326 3 17,405 $ 27107 $ 173,838
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Following are reconciliations of the segment information with the consolidated totals per the financial statements {in

thousands of dollars):

Operating earnings:
Total operating earnings for re
Unallocated expenses............

Total consclidated operating
Assets:

Total assets f{or reportable seg
Unallocated assets................

Total consclidated assets....

Other significant items:

Depreciation and amortization
Additions to long-lived assets

Geographic information:

portable segments ...,

BAMINGS ...oe vt

MENES .

UNItEO SEAIES ..ot e
L OF= 1= To [ TR TS U RSO RSO SUPSURSURSUURPRRPRE
Other foreign COURITIES .........vii e et

Other significant items:

Depreciation and amortization
Additions to long-lived assets

Geographic informaticn:

2007 2006 2005
$ 767,946 $ 660,980 $ 589350
(97,293) (82,909) (70,361)
$ 670,653 $ 578,071 $ 518,989
$2.822 449 $2,548,492 $2,386,253
271,579 497,596 720,968
$3,094,028 $3,046,088 $3,107.921
2007
Segment Consolidgated
Totals Unallocated Total
$ 119,994 $ 12,005 $ 131,998
$ 174,574 $ 25558 $ 200,132
Long-Lived
Revenues Assets
$5,643,500 $ 961,624
640,121 206,133
134,393 20,135
$6,418,014 $1,187,892
2006
Segment Consalidated
Totals Unallocated Total
$ 106,357 $ 12,211 $ 118,568
$ 158,385 $ 14,268 $ 172,653
Long-Lived
Revenues Assets
$5,197,240 $ 900,188
567,626 176,097
118,788 8,784
$5,883,654 $1,094,069
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2005

Segment Consolidated
Totals Unallocated Total
Other significant items:
Depreciation and amortization .................ccoocr oo $ 96,368 $ 12,394 $ 108,782
Additions to IoNG-Ived 8SSEIS ......cccciev e $ 173,838 $ 5528 $ 179,366
Long-Lived
Revenues Assets
Geographic information:
UNIBEA SEALES ...ttt ettt ettt et e e $4,897,309 $ 864,154
CANAOA ... ettt ettt ettt 504,373 178,609
OHher fOreign COUNTTIES ... et 124,854 4,610

$5,526,636 $1,047,373

Long-lived assets consist of property, buildings, equipment, capitalized software, goodwill and other intangibles.
Revenues are attributed to countries based on the ship-to location of the customer.

Unallocated expenses and unallccated assets primarily relate to the Company headguarters' support services, which
are not part of any business segment. Unallocated expenses include payroll and benefits, depreciation and other
costs associated with headquarters-related support services. Unallocated assets include non-operating cash and
cash equivalents, certain prepaid expenses and property, buildings and equipment — net.

Unallocated expenses increased $14.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2007, when compared with the prior
year primarily driven by payroll and benefits due to increased incentive-related expenses as a result of the Company’s
performance. Unallocated assets decreased $226.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2007, when compared
with the prior year primarily driven by the decrease in non-operating cash and cash eqguivalents related to the
Company's ongoing share repurchase program.

The change in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment from January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2007, is as follows:
Acklands - Grainger

Goodwill, net by Segment Branch-based Lab Safety Total
Balance at January 1, 2005 .........ccooiiiie e $117,083 $ 47,928 $165,011
ACQUISTHION ..o — 14,019 14,019
TranSIALION . ... e 3,696 — 3,696
Balance at December 31, 2005 ..o 120,779 61,947 182,726
ACQUISITIONS Lottt r s et r s s — 28,276 28,276
TrANSIALION . c..vec ettt et (331) — (331)
Balance at December 31, 2006 ...t 120,448 90,223 210,671
P ola | B ET] (o] o RN — 1,473 1,473
L= 1o 13 =1 (o [T 20,884 — 20,884
Balance at December 31, 2007 ..o ' $141,332 $ 91,696 $233,028




NOTE 19 - SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
A summary of selected quarterly information for 2007 and 2006 is as follows:

2007 Quarter Ended
{In thousands of dollars, except for per share amounts)
March 31 Juna 30 September 30 December 31 Total

Net Sales ..o, $1,546,658 $1,601,011 $1,658,592 $1,611,753 $6,418,014
Cost of merchandise sold ............. 914,570 960,546 999,003 840,272 3,814,391
Gross profit oo, 632,088 640,465 659,589 671,481 2,603,623
Warehousing, marketing and

administrative expenses............. 469,503 473,890 485,257 504,320 1,932,970
Operating earmings.........c.coeveeveen 162,585 166,575 174,332 167,161 670,653
Netearnings ...........cceeeveeeeieeenn, 101,787 104,791 109,150 104,392 420,120
Earnings per share — basic........... 1.21 1.256 1.33 1.32 5.10
Earnings per share - diluted......... $ 1.17 $ 1.21 $ 1.29 $ 1.28 $ 4.94

2006 Quarter Ended
(In thousands of dollars, except for per share amounts)
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Total

Netsales ..o $1,419,117 $1,482,880 $1,519,499 $1,462,158 $5,883,654
Cost of merchandise sold ............. 848,790 899,575 920,412 860,727 3,529,504
Gross profit ..o 570,327 583,305 539,087 601,431 2,354,150
Warehousing, marketing and

administrative expenses............ 435,910 438,761 447,774 453,634 1,776,079
Operating earnings. ......c.c.coeeeeees 134,417 144,544 151,313 147,797 578,071
Net earnings ..o, 86,233 93,739 104,494 98,933 383,399
Earnings per share - basic.......... 0.96 1.05 1.20 1.15 4.36
Earnings per share - diluted......... 3 0.83 $ 1.02 $ 1.16 $ 1.13 3 4.24

The 2006 fourth quarter included a $0.06 per share benefit from a reduction of deferred tax liabilities related to
property, buildings and equipment. The 2006 third guarter included a $0.09 per share banefit from the resolution of
uncertainties related to the audit of the 2004 tax year.

NOTE 20 — UNCLASSIFIED — NET
The components of Unclassified — net were as follows (in thousands of dollars):
For the Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
[ ToTe 0T N1 (=1 .0 LT $ 404 $§ 359 $ 25
EXPENSE IBITIS ..ottt et e enees (363) {228) (168)
Unclassified —net.........ccoooeiiee e [STPTPRTRTRPO % 41 & 1A $ (143)
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NOTE 21 - CONTINGENCIES AND LEGAL MATTERS

The Company has an ouistanding guarantee relating to an industrial revenue bond assumed by the buyer of cne of the
Company's formerly owned facilities. The maximum exposure under this guarantee is $8.5 million and it expires on
December 15, 2008. The Company has not recerded any liability refating to this guarantee and believes it is unlikely
that material payments will be required.

The Company has been named, along with numerous other nonaffiliated companies, as a defendant in litigation in
various states involving asbestos andjor silica. These lawsuits typically assert claims of personal injury arising from
alleged exposure to asbestos and/or silica as a consequence of products purportedly distributed by the Company.
As of January 14, 2008, the Company is named in cases filed on behalf of approximately 2,800 plaintifis in which
there is an allegation of exposure to asbestos and/or silica.

The Company has denied, or intends {o deny, the allegations in all of the above-described lawsuits. In 2007, lawsuits
relating to asbestos and/or silica and involving approximately 250 plaintiffs were dismissed with respect to the
Company, typically based on the lack of product identification. If a specific product distributed by the Company is
identified in any of these lawsuits, the Company would attempt to exercise indemnification remedies against the
product manufacturer. In addition, the Company believes that a substantial number of these claims are covered by
insurance. The Company is engaged in active discussions with its insurance carriers regarding the scope and amount
of coverage. While the Company is unable to predict the outcome of these lawsuits, it believes that the ultimate
resolution will not have, either individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on the Company's
conselidated financial position or results of operations.

The Company is a party to a contract with the United States General Services Administration (the "GSA™) first entered
into in 1999 and subsequently extended in 2004. The GSA contract has been the subject of an ongoing audit
performed by the GSA's Office of the Inspector General (the "OIG") and the Company has previously respanded to
subpoenas issued by the OIG in connection with its audit. In December of 2007, the Company received a letter from
the Justice Department’s Commercial Litigation Branch of the Civil Division suggesting that the Company had not
complied with the GSA contract's disclosure obligations and pricing provisions, and had potentially overcharged
government customers under the contract. On January 29, 2008, the Justice Department intervened in a civil “qui tam’
action previously filed under seal by a former employee of the Company in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern
District of Wisconsin relating to the GSA contract. The complaint alleges that the Company failed to comply with
pricing provisions of the GSA contract and that sales made by the Company pursuant to the contract violated the Buy
American Act and Trade Agreement Act. The complaint seeks various remedies including treble damages, statutory
penalties and disgorgement of profits. Although the Company believes that it has complied with the GSA contract in
all material respects, it is unable, at this time, to predict the outcome of this matter.

In addition to the foregoing, from time to time the Company is invalved in various other legal and administrative
proceedings that are incidental to its business, including claims relating to product liability, general negligence,
environmental issues, employment, inteflectual property and other matters. As a government contractor, from time to
time the Company is also subject to governmental or regulatory inquiries or audits or other proceedings, including
those related to pricing compliance and Trade Agreement Act compliance. It is not expected that the ultimate
resolution of any of these matters will have, either individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on the
Company's consolidated financial position or results of cperations.

NOTE 22 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 4, 2008, pursuant to the Company’s accelerated share repurchase agreement (ASR), Goldman, Sachs &
Co. (Goldman) informed the Company that it had completed its obligations under the agreement. As described in
Note 13, final settlement of the agreement would be based on the volume weighted average price of the Company's
shares during the purchase pericd and the initial number of shares delivered. Accordingly, the Company received
415,274 shares of its common stock from Goldman as final settlement of the ASR. A total of 5,731,281 shares were
repurchased under the ASR,

,
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM EXHIBIT 23

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements {Form S-8 No.’s 33-43902, 333-24215,
333-61980, 333-105185, 333-124356 and Form S-4 No. 33-32081) of WW. Grainger, Inc. and in the related
prospectuses of our reports dated February 25, 2008, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of WW.,
Grainger, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal contral over financial reporting of WW. Grainger, Inc., included in this
Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2007.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Chicago, lllinois
February 25, 2008
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CERTIFICATION EXHIBIT 31(a)

[, R. L. Keyser, certify that:
I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of WW. Grainger, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any unirue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f}} for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information refating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

by Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal contral over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’'s most recent fiscal quarter {the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materiaily affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the reqistrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions).

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

by Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2008

By: R. L. Keyser
Name: R. L. Keyser

Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATION EXHIBIT 31(b)

[, P. Q. Loux, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of WW. Grainger, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15{e) and 15d-15(e}) and internal contral over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliahility of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the periocd covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscat quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2008

By: P. O. Loux

Name: P. O. Loux
Title: Senior Vice President, Finance

and Chief Financial Officer
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO EXHIBIT 32(a)
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, R. L. Keyser, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of WW. Grainger, Inc. (“Grainger"), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1.  The Annual Report on Form 10-K of Grainger for the annual period ended December 31, 2007, (the “Report”) fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of Grainger.

R. L. Keyser
A. L. Keyser
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

February 27, 2008
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO EXHIBIT 32(b)
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, P. O. Loux, Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Cfficer of WW. Grainger, Inc. ("Grainger”), certify,
pursuant to 18 U.5.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Annual Report on Form 10-K of Grainger for the annual period ended December 31, 2007, (the "Report”} fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13{a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all rmaterial respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of Grainger.

P O. Loux

P. O. Loux

Senior Vice President, Finance
and Chief Financial Officer

February 27, 2008
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W.W. GRAINGER, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SHAREHOLDER AND MEDIA INFORMATION

Company Headquarters
W.W. Grainger, Inc.

100 Grainger Parkway

Lake Forest, lllinois 60045-5201
847.535.1000 Phone
847.535.0878 Fax

Annual Meeting

The 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at the company's
headquarters in Lake Forest, lil, at 10:00 am. CDT on Wednesday,

April 30, 2008.

Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP

Sears Tower

233 South Wacker Drive
Chicago, llinois 60806-6301

Common Stock Listing
The company's common stock is listed on the New York and Chicago stock
exchanges under the trading symbol GWW.

Transfer Agent, Registrar and Dividend Disbursing Agent
Instructions and inquiries regarding transfers, certificates, changes of title or
address, lost or missing dividend checks, consolidation of accounts and
elimination of multiple maifings should be directed to:

Computershare Investor Services

P.O. Box 43078

Providence, Rl 02940-3078

800.446.2617

Dividend Direct Deposit

Shareholders of record have the opportunity to have their quarterly dividends
electronically deposited directly into their checking, money market or
savings accounts at financial institutions that participate in the automated
clearinghouse system.

Shareholders who are interested in taking advantage of this service or would
like more information cn the program should contact Computershare.

Investor Relations Contacts

Nancy A. Hobor

Senior Vice President, Communications and Investor Relations
847.535.0065

LLaurz D. Brown
Vice President, Investor Relations
8475350409

William D. Chapman
Director, Investor Relations
B847.535.0881

Forward-Looking Statements

Upon writlen request to Investor Relations, we will provide, free of charge, a
copy of our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.

Grainger's Annual Report, Fact Book, Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, proxy statement
and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, as well as
news releases including quarterly earnings and monthly sales, can be accessed
free of charge at the Investor Relations section of the company's Web site at
www.grainger.com/investor. For more information, contact Investor Relations at
847.535.1000.

Requests for other company-related information should be made to
Cristen L. Kogl, Corporate Secretary, at the company’s headquarters.

Media Relations Contacts

Ernest L Duplessis

Vice President, Internal and External Communications
8475354356

Debra Ceffalio
Regional Communications Director, West Region
949,255.1368

Rebb M, Kristopher
Regional Communications Direclor, Central Region
8475350879

Michael E. McGrew
Regional Communications Director, East Region
678.540.0141

Trademarks

ACKLANDS - GRAINGER, ACKLANDS GRAINGER, CONDCR, FOR

THE ONES WHO GET IT DONE, GRAINGER, GRAINGER catalog design,
GRAINGER CHINA LLC, GRAINGER EXPRESS, GRAINGER INDUSTRIAL
SUPPLY, the GRAINGER logo, GRAINGER REBUILDING AMERICA,
GRAINGER shipping box design, GRAINGER TOOLS FOR TOMORROW,
GRAINGER.COM, GRAINGER.COM.MX, LUMAPRQ, and WESTWARD are
the trademarks or service marks of W.W. Grainger, Inc., which may be
registered in the United States and/or other countries.

AIR HANDLER, DAYTON, DEM-KOTE and SPEEDAIRE are the trademarks or
service marks of Dayton Electric Manufacturing Co, a whaolly owned subsidiary
of WW. Grainger, Inc, which may be regisiered in the United Siates and/or
other countries.

AW DIRECT, BEN MEADOWS, CONSTRUCTION BOOK EXPRESS,
GEMPLER'S, LAB SAFETY, LAB SAFETY SUPPLY, LSS, McFEELY'S,
PROFESSIONAL EQUIPMENT and RAND are the trademarks or service
marks of Lab Safety Supply, Inc., which may be registered in the United States
and/or other countries.

All other trademarks and service marks are the property of their respective owners,

This Annual Report and Form 10-K contain statements that are not historical in nature but concern future results and business plans, strategies and objectives and
other matters that may be deemed to be “forward-locking statements” under federal securities laws. Grainger has generally identified such forward-locking statements
in this Annual Report by using words such as “achieve, * “aim,” “can,” ‘complete,” *determining,” “do better,” “exparding,” “goals,” “increase,” ‘improving,” “intend,” ‘invest,”
‘opportunity,” “paying off,” “plan,” “planning,” “post,” “positioned,” “pursuing,” *stepping up” or similar expressions,

Grainger cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized atthough Grainger does believe that its assumptions underlying its forward-looking
statements are reasonable. Achievement of future results is subject to risks and uncertainties which could cause Grainger's results to differ materially from those which
are presented.

Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those presented or implied in a forward-looking statement include, without limitation: higher product
costs or other expenses; a major loss of customers; increased competitive pricing pressures; failure to develop or implement new technologies or business strategies;
the outcome of pending and future litigation or governmental or regulatory proceedings; changes in laws and regulations; disruption of information technology or data
secwity systems; general industry or market conditions; general economic conditions; labor shortages; facilities disruptions or shutdowns; higher fuel costs or disruptions
in transportation services; natural and other catastrophes; unanticipated weather conditions; and the factors identified in item 1A, Risk Factors of the Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.

Caution should be taken not to place undue reliance on Grainger's forward-looking statements and Grainger undertakes no obligation to publicly update the farward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

© 2008 W.W. Grainger, Inc.
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